

# Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# Public Participation in Georgia's Environmental Permitting Process

Joyce A. Stanley Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the African American Studies Commons, Environmental Sciences Commons, and the Public Administration Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Joyce A. Stanley

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Hilda Shepeard, Committee Chairperson,
Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Steven Matarelli, Committee Member, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

#### Abstract

# Public Participation in Georgia's Environmental Permitting Process

by

Joyce A. Stanley

MPA, Troy University, 2009

BS, Georgia State University, 2008

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

November 2023

#### Abstract

There is no meaningful way for Georgia residents to participate in the environmental decision-making process before environmental permits are approved. As a result, hazardous waste facilities are disproportionately placed in African American communities, exposing them to poor air quality and a higher prevalence of heart and respiratory diseases than Whites. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and better understand how African American residents living in Stonecrest, Georgia felt about the hazardous waste site being placed in their community without an opportunity to provide input into the Georgia Environmental Protection Division's (GEPD) decision-making process before a decision was made to grant permits. The theoretical framework for this study was Bergman and Luckmann's and Schneider and Ingram's social construction theories. Purposive and snowball sampling were used to recruit eight African American homeowners residing in Stonecrest, Georgia between 2017 and 2020. Data were collected through semistructured interviews. A priori, in vivo, and axial coding were used; thematic analysis was manually conducted. The results indicated that the lack of timely notification and the lack of communication prevented African Americans from participating in the GEPD permitting process, contributing to feelings of being ignored and distrustful of the decision. Findings could promote positive social change through helping decision makers reexamine their process, policies, and practices to ensure communications and notices are all-inclusive.

## Public Participation in Georgia's Environmental Permitting Process

by

Joyce A. Stanley

MPA, Troy University, 2009

BS, Georgia State University, 2008

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

November 2023

### Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my mother, Ann, who encouraged me to take advantage of education and strive to do good. My mother often stated that opportunity sometime only knocks once. I would also like to dedicate this dissertation to my family and friends, who constantly encouraged me to keep pushing ahead.

This dissertation is also dedicated to a special friend, Sylvester Carter, whose support was the source of completing this study. I remember him asking me on his last visit before passing away, "will you finish?" Finally, I thank my savior Jesus Christ for all things are possible with him and through him. Thanks to all for your support, love, patience, and understanding as I completed this journey.

#### Acknowledgments

A huge thanks to Dr. Shepeard, my committee chair, whose leadership guided me to complete this study. Her patience, encouragement, and wisdom motivated me to push forward little by little. Dr. Shepeard was always available to answer questions and make recommendations to keep me on track. She is a great listener with an awesome sense of compassion, making me feel as though I was her only student.

Thank you, Dr. Matarelli, for your expertise and knowledge. I remember our first meeting when you took the time to point out what I should do to meet the methodological requirements, and discussing with me other approaches that might be beneficial to enhance the study.

I would like to thank all of the participants in the study. Thank you for taking the time to share your experiences and perspectives. This study would not have been possible without you. Thank you to my friends and family far and near. I appreciate the concerns, encouragement, and prayers you have offered on my behalf.

# Table of Contents

ist of Tablesiv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study5
Research Question6
Theoretical Framework6
Nature of the Study7
Definitions7
Assumptions8
Scope and Delimitations9
Limitations
Significance11
Summary
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Literature Search Strategy15
Theoretical Foundation
Literature Review Related to Key Concepts25
Policy Design
Georgia Environmental Protection Division's Decision-Making Process
Public Policymaking and Design

Public Participation	42
Environmental Awareness	44
Messaging	46
Summary and Conclusions	48
Chapter 3: Methodology	50
Research Design and Rationale	50
Role of the Researcher	53
Methodology	54
Participant Selection Logic	54
Instrumentation	58
Data Collection	62
Data Analysis Plan	64
Issues of Trustworthiness	65
Credibility	65
Transferability	65
Dependability	65
Confirmability	66
Ethical Procedures	66
Summary	68
Chapter 4: Results	69
Setting	69
Demographics	70

Data Collection	70
Data Analysis	72
Evidence of Trustworthiness	77
Results	79
Theme 1: Lack of Timely Notification	80
Theme 2: Lack of Communication	82
Summary	86
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	87
Interpretation of the Findings	87
Theme 1: Lack of Timely Notification	89
Theme 2: Lack of Communication	90
Limitations of the Study	91
Recommendations	92
Implications	93
Conclusion	93
References	95
Appendix A: Recruitment Flyer	132
Appendix B: Church Letter	133
Appendix C: Screening Guide	134
Appendix D: Interview Protocol and Questions	135
Appendix E: Research Question, Interview Questions, Participants' Responses,	
Patterns, and Themes' Chart	137

# List of Tables

Table 1. Case Study Participant Demographics	70
Table 2. Examples of In Vivo Codes	74
Table 3. Codes, Categories, and Themes	76

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Historically, hazardous sites have been disproportionately placed in African American communities, a practice that continues today (Brazil, 2022). African Americans have been on the front lines of systematic environmental injustice for too long (Alton & Waldman, 2020; Been, 1995; Bullard & Wright, 2009; Chemnick, 2020; Hamilton, 1995; Morello-Frosch et al., 2001). The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is tasked with cleaning up hazardous sites and created the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980. The Act promotes communities working with stakeholders; however, support depends on community members (Zaragoza, 2019). The Act is a positive step forward, but not enough is being done to address the permitting of hazardous waste sites in African American communities (Zaragoza, 2019).

Examples of the results of the permitting of hazardous waste sites are extensive. Due to hazardous waste site emissions, a Baltimore community of African Americans has been challenged with environmental threats that impact their ability to grow vegetables in their backyards (Shargo et al., 2021). Cognitive development among African American children has been affected due to living near hazardous sites and contributes to unequal survival chances before birth (Persico et al., 2020). Type 2 diabetes has been linked to hazardous waste sites in epidemic proportions among adults and youths (T. A. Johnson, 2019). Housing values in African American communities are also negatively affected due to the proximity of these sites (Currie et al., 2015). The hazardous waste site problem has been blamed on the permitting process, which needs further study (Ulibarri, 2018). The

permitting process in the state of Georgia does not provide an opportunity for the public to provide input (Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment, 1982/2019), resulting in a negative impact on African American communities, which prompted the current qualitative case study. The study was needed to fill the gap in the literature to understand the experiences and perceptions of African American community members impacted by the Georgia Environmental Protection Division's (GEPD) environmental decision making.

Chapter 1 addresses the study's background, research problem, and purpose. The chapter also includes the research question and a discussion of the theoretical framework and nature of the study. Definitions of terms, assumptions, scope of the research and delimitations, and limitations are provided.

#### **Background**

One of the significant challenges that African Americans face is that industries and state governments select neighborhoods that put up little resistance or lack the financial resources to oppose the building of toxic landfills, hazardous material sites, and industrial facilities in their communities (Clayton et al., 2019). Aitamurto and Chen (2017) found that inclusiveness requires diversity in participation to ensure the representation of various arguments and viewpoints. Anderson et al. (2020) claimed that policy entrepreneurs have influenced policymaking due to their ability to connect with legislators, provide reliable information, define the problem, and build coalitions. Anyebe (2018) posited that policymaking is political, socially constructed over time, a result of citizen demands, government focused, positive or negative, and based on law and

authority. The GEPD has no meaningful procedures for public participation in its environmental decision-making process (Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment, 1982/2019).

Factor (2018) investigated participation processes, Lee et al. (2017) examined public participation, and Nabatchi et al. (2018) researched stakeholder processes.

Nabatchi and Mergel (2010) studied deliberative democracy, and Weiksner et al. (2012) explored deliberative public engagement. These researchers evaluated the extensiveness and complexity of the public participation struggle but failed to examine the state's role in the process or inclusiveness for all community members. For example, in Stonecrest, Georgia, residents were not involved in the decision to build a hazardous waste site in their community until the clearing of land began and activists filed an injunction that halted construction. Therefore, it is essential to understand how this African American community feels about the GEPD environmental permitting process.

#### **Problem Statement**

Georgia has no effective process for public participation in decisions to locate hazardous waste sites in local communities or determine their members' satisfaction with their choices (Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment, 1982/2019). There is little information on how African American residents in Georgia feel about being excluded from the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant a permit. The problem impacts African Americans because hazardous waste sites are disproportionately located in their communities (Ahmed, 2021; Rhubart & Galli Robertson, 2020; Shargo et al., 2021; Villarosa, 2020). As a result, African Americans

are exposed to poor air quality and have a higher prevalence of heart and respiratory diseases (Servadio et al., 2019). Georgia's air quality permitting for African American communities in rural areas is higher, especially for commercial and nonindustrial private landowners, than in other communities (Johnson Gaither et al., 2019). Furthermore, nuclear reactors are disproportionately placed in zip codes of predominantly African American communities, resulting in lung cancer (Webber & Stone, 2017), hypertension, and heart and kidney disease (Jantz, 2018; White-Newsome, 2016).

Georgia has limited requirements for environmental review under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), which only applies when federal funds are involved. The NEPA "requires federal agencies to assess the environmental effects of their proposed actions before making decisions" (EPA, 2021, para. 1). However, despite complying with these legislative requirements, the GEPD only posts notices in local newspapers, radio stations, or the GEPD.org website, announcing pending or enacted environmental actions. Community members can request notification of environmental activities or projects via email for an annual fee of \$50.

The literature reviewed for the current study included research by those who had investigated this problem focusing on public inclusion (De'Arman, 2020; Hines, 2001; Kramar et al., 2018; Soffen, 2016), social and economic status (Deimel et al., 2020; Do et al., 2017; Wagmiller et al., 2017), public participation (Roberts, 2008), stakeholder processes (Bryson et al., 2013), deliberative democracy (Nabatchi & Mergel, 2010), and purposeful public engagement (Weiksner et al., 2012). Researchers have evaluated the extensiveness and complexity of the public participation struggle; however, none have

examined the experiences or perceptions of African American residents living in Stonecrest, Dekalb County, Georgia. My study helped fill this gap by contributing information to the research literature that identified the experiences and perceptions of African American residents regarding Georgia's GEPD permitting process, the presence of hazardous sites in their communities, and overall environmental concerns. My study might also help policymakers establish best practices from lessons learned.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and better understand how African American residents living in Stonecrest felt about the hazardous waste site being placed in their community without an opportunity to provide input into the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant permits. Stonecrest residents were not involved in the decision to build a hazardous waste site in their community until land clearing began and activists filed an injunction to halt the construction. The landfill permitting process in Stonecrest was the case to be studied. The issue remains fluent and is currently in the court system. According to the plaintiff, the city council of Stonecrest approved permitting under pretense; therefore, a judge ruled that the Stonecrest hazardous waste site was improperly permitted (Hansen, 2022). The court filing demonstrates the importance of this case study and confirms the problem exists. A county superior court judge halted the site's construction until further information could be obtained (Barrie, 2020).

#### **Research Question**

The research question that guided this study was the following: What are the perceptions, experiences, and recommendations of African American homeowners living in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020 concerning how GEPD addresses community concerns in the decision-making process before hazardous waste site permits are issued?

#### **Theoretical Framework**

Berger and Luckmann's (1966) and Schneider and Ingram's (1993) social construction theories were the guiding lens through which this qualitative case study explored the experiences and perceptions of African Americans regarding the GEPD permitting process. Berger and Luckmann proposed that social construction progresses over time and builds from interactions and communication. Further, they noted that communication in everyday dialogue is the most powerful method of establishing beliefs and thoughts, which become socially constructed. Everyday communication becomes a habit that is socially shaped and institutionalized into social constructs.

Moreover, Schneider and Ingram (1993) defined social construction as either positive or negative when characterizing target populations. African Americans are placed in the negative category. Schneider and Ingram built on Berger and Luckmann's (1966) work and examined more extensively how public policies have been designed based on stereotypes of people, ideas, institutions, events, and other aspects that become habit-forming in everyday life. Considering these factors, policy design for the target population, African Americans, has been constructed in a way that negatively impacts their communities. For example, African American communities are more often burdened

with hazardous sites than White communities (Bullard et al., 2008; Mascarenhas et al., 2021; Webber & Stone, 2017). Therefore, Schneider and Ingram's social construction theory also guided this study. I discuss social construction theory in detail in Chapter 2.

#### Nature of the Study

I used a qualitative case study design for this research. A case study was a suitable design because it allowed the use of multiple sources to collect data from residents living in or near the hazardous waste site. I explored the experiences and perceptions of African American residents living in Stonecrest regarding the GEPD permitting process without input from community members. Stonecrest was charted in 2017 and is 92.6% African American (U.S. Census Bureau, 2019).

Since 2017, the GEPD has granted permits to a company that handles or emits toxic substances into the environment in Stonecrest. Using both purposive and snowball sampling, I recruited eight African American homeowners who lived in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020. Recruitment continued until data saturation was met. Data were collected using a self-developed interview protocol in one-on-one interviews via Zoom calls. Andrejuk (2020) found that Zoom interviews are suitable for obtaining information on a concept. Andrejuk and Archibald et al. (2019) recommended Zoom interviews for hard-to-reach populations. Zoom interviews were used for research during the COVID-19 pandemic (Andrejuk, 2020). Data were coded manually to assist with pattern and thematic analysis.

#### **Definitions**

The following is a list of terms used in this study and their definitions:

Adverse environmental action: A project proposed to be undertaken by a government agency or agencies for which it is probable to expect a significant negative impact on the natural environment, including air, land, water, plants, animals, historical sites, buildings, or cultural resources (NEPA, 1970).

GEPD: A Georgia State agency that is charged with protecting air, land, and water resources through the authority of state and federal environmental statutes. These laws regulate public and private facilities in the areas of air quality, water quality, hazardous waste, water supply, solid waste, surface mining, underground storage tanks, and others. GEPD issues and enforces all state permits in these areas and has entire delegation for federal environmental permits except Section 404 (wetland) permits (Environmental Protection Division [EPD], 2022a).

*Public participation*: This process includes procedures designed to consult, involve, and inform the public to allow those affected by a decision to have input regarding that decision (EPA, 2022; Rowe & Frewer, 2000).

Stonecrest: An incorporated city located in the southeastern corner of Dekalb County, Georgia, bordering Clayton, Fulton, Gwinnett, Henry, and Rockdale counties. The estimated population of Stonecrest is 54,903, with 94% African Americans, a median household income of \$49,865, and 44.6% homeownership (U.S. Census Bureau, 2019).

#### **Assumptions**

Assumptions are those aspects of the study that are out of a researcher's control, but if they disappear, the study will become irrelevant (Simon, 2011). Assumptions for my research included that the participants would respond truthfully during the interviews.

I also assumed that the participants would be honest in self-reporting that they were African American and owned homes in the required zip codes from 2017 to 2020.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

This study included African American homeowners living in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020. Stonecrest was charted in 2017, has a statistically reported African American majority residential demographic, and was the specific focus of this study. The study did not include residents outside of Stonecrest, other races or ethnic groups, non-English speakers, and renters. Homeownership has more advantages than renting and is the most significant lifetime investment for most people; therefore, homeowners have a vested interest in their property (Mandič, 2018). The scope of the current study included African American homeowners in Stonecrest to better understand their perceptions and experiences as well as obstacles in the environmental permitting process.

Yin's (2003, 2018) case study approach served as my research design. Yin (2018) recommended generalizing theoretical propositions and not populations. With good documentation and a detailed database, generalization into a new case can be achieved (Yin, 2003). For example, using the same selection criteria and similar circumstances, the study can be a model to examine the regentrification processes in metropolitan cities with large African American populations and other underserved target populations with social and environmental issues. The study could be generalized to other predominately African American communities challenged with environmental justice concerns regarding hazardous landfills, recycling plants, and other unwanted facilities.

#### Limitations

This study was limited to African American homeowners who resided in Stonecrest within zip codes 30038 and 30058 between 2017 and 2020. The study did not include other races' experiences and perceptions. The sample was not comprehensive, which might limit the transferability of the findings. The study excluded renters and businesses; therefore, the study may not be a general representation of other African American communities because a single population was used to collect data. However, I worked to ensure the sample represented the population in the community as much as possible.

According to Simundic (2013), "bias is any trend or deviation from the truth in data collection, data analysis, interpretation, and publication which can cause false conclusions" (p. 12). To eliminate bias in the current study, I asked questions that did not motivate the participants to provide a particular response or steer them to view the problem in a certain way. The participants were volunteers, which could have created a self-selection bias. There could have been potential for bias in their answers because they lived or had lived near the hazardous waste site. All participants were asked the same questions in the same order. I was precise and focused on the facts, and I gathered data by creating an environment in which participants could freely express their thoughts and ideas without judgment or intimidation. I also acknowledged my potential bias as an African American and self-reflected by taking notes during data collection and analysis, reporting and removing any potential bias. In addition, the participants had the opportunity to review their responses for accuracy as well as the study's findings. I

provided a transparent audit trail outlining all steps to collect data to assist with transferability. More detailed information regarding consistency and neutrality is provided in Chapter 3.

#### **Significance**

This study may create positive social change because it contributed to the current literature on state agencies' roles in environmental permitting and may inform policymakers in shaping their policy design process. The findings may improve decision-making procedures to include all citizens. Also, the results demonstrated the importance of public participation and may prompt a change of policy that gives individuals an opportunity to participate in the process before a decision is made. Results from the study provide information to decision makers that may help improve policies and practices to encourage public engagement, promote a positive environmental attitude, and create consistency between Georgia and communities statewide. African Americans may become aware of the GEPD's process and seek participation opportunities, and decision makers may become aware of community members' environmental concerns, attitudes, beliefs, and other unknown factors. The goal was to better understand the perceptions and experiences of African Americans to create tools to encourage two-way dialogue between the target population and GEPD in the environmental permitting process.

#### Summary

A better understanding of African Americans' experiences and perceptions regarding the GEPD's environmental permitting process was needed. The GEPD has limited requirements for environmental review under the NEPA, which only apply when

federal funds are involved. The GEPD's decision-making process lacks meaningful ways for public participation resulting in African American communities being targeted for hazardous sites, waste dumps, and other undesirable industries.

Many studies have addressed public participation; however, researchers have not explored how community members are notified in the first place. Berger and Luckmann's (1966) and Schneider and Ingram's (1993) social construction theories were the lens used to explore the perceptions and experiences of the target population and how they feel about being excluded from the environmental permitting process. Chapter 2 consists of the literature search strategy, a discussion of the study's theoretical foundation, and a literature review related to key concepts.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

Georgia has no meaningful way for public participation in decisions to locate hazardous waste sites in local communities or to determine their members' satisfaction with the decisions made (Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment, 1982/2019). There is little information on how African American residents in Georgia feel about being excluded from the decision-making process before a decision is made to grant the permit. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and better understand how African American residents living in Stonecrest felt about the hazardous waste site being placed in their community without an opportunity to provide input into the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant permits.

The problem is relevant because hazardous sites continue to be disproportionately placed in African American communities, resulting in environmental health problems due to the current decision-making process for environmental permitting. Georgia air quality permitting in African American communities in rural areas is higher than others, especially for commercial and nonindustrial private landowner permits (Johnson Gaither et al., 2019). The lack of public involvement has resulted in exposure to environmental hazards in African American communities, disproportionately resulting in poor air quality and a higher prevalence of heart and respiratory diseases (Servadio et al., 2019). Furthermore, nuclear reactors are more often placed in zip codes of predominantly African American communities, causing lung cancer, hypertension, and heart and kidney disease (Jantz, 2018).

Georgia's environmental decision-making process for community engagement is absent (Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment, 1982/2019), and policymakers do not address or seem to care about the needs of the communities (Quintero, 2019). The EPA does not provide oversight and enforce environmental laws equally in African American communities (Judy, 2018). For decades, African American communities have experienced social injustice and environmental inequality (Alvarez & Evans, 2021; Ard, 2016; Hamilton, 1995; Johnson Gaither et al., 2019; King, 2020; Soraghan, 2020).

Moreover, African American communities tend to be more segregated with greater exposure to air toxins (Ard, 2016; Weaver et al., 2021;). Numerous researchers have asserted that African American communities are burdened with hazardous living conditions (Agyeman et al., 2016; Been, 1995; Bikomeye et al., 2021; Dombey, 2019; Hamilton, 1995; Morello-Frosch et al., 2001; Pastor et al., 2001; Yabes & Pijawka, 2008). The landfill permitting process in Stonecrest was the case studied in the current study and is an example of why this problem is relevant. The issue remains fluent and is currently in the court system. According to the plaintiff, the city council of Stonecrest approved permitting under false pretenses (Barrie, 2020)

Chapter 2 includes details of the literature search strategy, including key terms and search engines used. I also discuss the study's theoretical foundation based on social construction theory. Finally, I provide a literature review of this study's main concepts.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

The following databases were used to locate peer-reviewed research for this study: SAGE Journal, SAGE Research Methods Online, Thoreau, Academic Search Complete, Political Science, ProQuest Central, Google Scholar, ProQuest Dissertations, and Theses Global. The key search terms and phrases included *community engagement* + attitude, civic engagement, awareness, environmental policy, public participation + environmental policy process, public participation + environmental policy, community satisfaction, rulemaking, EPA community participation guidance, federal registry, transparency in government agencies, participation + environmental policy process, environmental awareness + environmental policy process, environmental policy process + minorities, African Americans, environmental policy process, Hispanics, community member attendance + environmental policy process, satisfaction, response rate, federal registry, transparency in government agencies, information dissemination, environmental rulemaking, community satisfaction, environmental racism, environmental justice, air pollution, respiratory disease, cardiovascular disease, inequity, racial disparity, and theories.

The scope of the literature review was the last 5 years and consisted of current peer-reviewed and seminal articles. The literature review provides a comprehensive understanding of social construction theory, public policy, policy design, policymaking, awareness, and messaging. The terms were researched in Walden University Library's Public Policy and Administration database under the subjects of public policy and public administration. The literature review includes secondary searches of peer-reviewed

articles. I also used Google as a search engine to locate dissertations, Georgia laws, and Dekalb County, Georgia Superior Court websites for background information for programs and regulations.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

The theoretical foundation that guided this study was social construction theory. Social construction theory originated from the work of Berger and Luckmann (1966), who argued that social construction progresses over time and is built from interactions and communication. Berger and Luckmann further clarified that communication through everyday dialogue is the most powerful method to establish beliefs and thoughts, which become socially constructed.

Schneider and Ingram (1993) built on Berger and Luckmann's (1966) theory and introduced the target populations social construction concept. The central theoretical propositions are based on the social constructions of individuals, labeled as the target population, who receive benefits and burdens according to their social standing and political power (Schneider & Ingram, 1993). Based on this concept, African Americans are the last to become aware of environmental actions and their impact; therefore, they are targets for locating hazardous sites in their communities. In the current qualitative case study, I explored the perceptions and experiences of African Americans residing in Stonecrest regarding the permitting process. I investigated the impact of policy design, permitting, policymaking, public participation, and exclusion from the process on the community.

Social construction involves stereotypes created by media, socialization, culture, history, and politics (Schneider & Ingram, 1993). Social construction theory highlights how a specific group is constructed as the target population (Ingram et al., 2019). According to Schneider and Ingram (2019), the core rationale found in previous research indicated that social construction involves positive labels regarding a target population (e.g., retired and older individuals) or negative labels (e.g., welfare recipients, racial minority males, sex offenders). Labeling citizens is used in policy design to determine which group receives benefits and which shoulders burdens.

For African Americans in Stonecrest, social construction theory suggests that not all communities are treated equally, and evidence shows a difference in where hazardous sites are located (see Schneider & Ingram, 2019). The target population has been socially constructed with the powerful influence of decision makers shaping the agenda and policy design through embedded messages. In contrast, the positive group (business) receives benefits, and the negative group (racial minorities) receives burdens (see Schneider & Ingram, 2019). The messages cause communities labeled as unfavorable to lose hope, creating a negative generational attitude toward public participation, believing it is not worthwhile (Schneider & Ingram, 2019).

Policymakers develop policies with messages regarding government responsibility, what groups are deserving, and what participation patterns are appropriate in a democratic society (Schneider & Ingram, 2019). According to Schneider and Ingram (2019), some policymakers view racial minorities as oppressed and deserving of benefits; others view them as powerful special interest groups and entities that do not deserve

government benefits. The rich and powerful group finds ways to ensure their interests are prioritized on legislative agendas with the capacity to define their construction and fight to refrain from being labeled negative (Schneider & Ingram, 1993, 2019). Target populations include (a) the powerful and positively constructed as the advantaged group, (b) the powerful and negatively constructed as contenders, (c) the powerless and positively constructed as dependents, (d) and the powerless and negatively constructed as deviants (Schneider & Ingram, 1993).

New policies are built onto those that are older and more deeply rooted; these are challenging to change and become engrained in laws, administrative guidance, and everyday decision makers' practices (Pierce et al., 2014; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Politicians and decision makers who make laws and guidelines are empowered to benefit the positive groups because they are constructed as deserving, and decision makers assume there will be no retaliation from the powerless, who are defined as negative (Schneider & Ingram, 1993, 2019). The socially constructed target population is essential from a political perspective because politicians can build their base using policies that benefit the positive and punish the negative (Ingram et al., 2019; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Benefits continue to be distributed to positive groups (e.g., powerful, wellregarded), which are oversubscribed (Ingram et al., 2019; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). When policymakers can provide benefits to the negative group (e.g., drug addicts, criminals), they also find a way to include the positive group, even when it is illogical (Schneider & Ingram, 1993, 2019). Policies for contenders (e.g., racial minorities, cultural elites) are concealed by policymakers who use complex and convoluted

processes because they fear their political careers will be jeopardized (Ingram et al., 2019; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Policy changes stall when the public complains benefits are given to the negative group (Ingram et al., 2019; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Schneider et al. (2014) defined the target population as the group that receives benefits and burdens through various elements of public policy to achieve a public purpose.

Social construction theory had been applied in ways similar to the current study. Using social construction as a lens, Nicholson-Crotty and Nicholson-Crotty (2004) studied inmate health as a public health issue, developing a concise multistage approach to understanding the problem. The researchers concluded that socially constructed criminals are a powerful predictor of spending on inmate health. Therefore, states do not adjust health care policies to address HIV, AIDS, and tuberculosis. According to Nicholson-Crotty and Nicholson-Crotty, empirical evidence points to social construction's critical role in the policy process. Policy decisions are made from the perception of policymakers of the target group instead of the need for fiscal capacity. Nicholson-Crotty and Nicholson-Crotty added to social construction theory the idea that the powerless and negatively perceived target populations receive few benefits in the decision-making process.

Shanahan et al. (2018) applied social construction theory in an obesity study to test the power of narrative, an empirical approach under the narrative policy framework. According to Schneider and Ingram's (1993) target population framework, the Shanahan et al. study was a controlled subject experiment and examined individual attitudes toward obesity. Two-hundred and fifty-six participants were randomly selected and assigned to

one of the four experimental conditions (advantaged, contenders, dependent, and deviant). A between-subject design was used to isolate individual effects and relate the different treatments. The results indicated that certain narratives could influence perceptions of policy on target populations as well as solutions.

Flores-Landeros et al. (2021) used a social construction framework to determine a relationship between air pollution levels and multiple groups in California's Central Valley cities. The focus was on outcomes using inferential statistics instead of the regularly used qualitative approach. The researchers identified the target population from seven groups and one or more from each category, including water and air quality and hydroclimatic hazards (drought and flood), specifically environmental outcomes. Their findings indicated no relationship between air pollution levels in the various cities of the Central Valley and the social construction of populations within those cities.

Martinez et al. (2017) applied social construction theory in a study on how to help school counselors and trainees work more effectively with African American and Latina/o students in urban schools. Martinez et al. used a narrative framework with social construction theory to understand, connect, and build relationships with students.

Martinez et al. concluded that a clearer understanding of the cultural, historical, and social contexts of working with students in an urban school would help counselors make a difference in a child's life.

Wagner and Morris (2018) applied social construction theory in their study in which students were given two assignments. In the first assignment, students placed specified target groups into Schneider and Ingram's social construction political power

matrix. In the second task, students used media data to populate the matrix. Using social construction theory, teachers taught students about the political and normative facets of public analysis and closed the policy debates about fairness, deservedness, and values, giving the students a better appreciation and practice.

Hananel (2018) applied social construction theory to landlords, lenders, borrowers, and tenants to understand how stigmatization becomes internalized in the policymaking process and how the construct of images has influenced policy agenda. Social construction theory as well as policy design have created a better understanding of the laws of racial segregation and housing discrimination (Sidney, 2001; Trochmann, 2021). In addition, social structure has been applied to homeownership policy and the design of low-income homeownership guidelines (Drew, 2013; S. P. Taylor, 2018)

Social construction establishes who benefits from early childhood subsidies and reinforces stereotypes that enable the powerful and advantaged to have benefits and those considered as negative to be undeserving and burdened, having minimum resources (Barigozzi et al., 2020; Hynes & Hayes, 2011). Those with AIDS have been socially constructed as either innocent or guilty in the public discourse, influencing how public policies are designed and justified. Fonseca et al. (2020) used social construction theory to analyze the social problems associated with AIDS and addiction to make recommendations for interventions. Valcore and Dodge (2019) applied social construction theory in a case study to assess the evolution of a prison's AIDS policy. Women taking responsibility for their health was highlighted in a study through the lens of social construction theory (Cameron et al., 2018). The theory has also been applied to

understand the social meanings of amphetamine use and the social constructions of users (Gstrein, 2018; Levin, 2018; McKenna, 2011).

Gaynor (2018) used a social construction lens to examine crime and criminality, including (a) state-sanctioned oppression that marginalizes underserved populations and socially stigmatized groups; (b) exploitation through labor practices; (c) a population that does not identify as White, heterosexual, and cisgender; (d) the cultural imperialism classified as stereotyped; (e) a crime motivated by race and sexual orientation; and (f) an unethical administration influenced by negative social construction, shaping thoughts and behaviors. Gaynor's findings indicated how negative social constructions mold administrative actions so that race, gender, and sexual orientation are criminalized. This validates how those identifying as people of color are burdened by public actors' unjust and oppressive actions.

Social construction theory has been applied in research on public health, prisons, homeownership, education, air pollution, and environmental policies. Social construction theory has also been applied to endangered species, with plants, birds, mammals, and fish considered more positive than reptiles, amphibians, invertebrates, and microorganisms. Social construction theory was used to understand why some species benefited disproportionately from the Endangered Species Act and the development of political strategies for conservation purposes (Czech et al., 1998; DeMello, 2021).

The rationale for social construction theory is based on positive or negative connotations and public policy. Socially constructed beliefs influence policy agendas and are the rationale that validates policy choices. The policy is embedded with these

connotations and sends a message to citizens, which affects their orientation and participation. The policy design that is socially constructed for the target population often deliberately fails its normal purpose to solve public problems, support institutions of democracy, and promote equal citizenship, and instead prolongs injustice (Sabatier & Weible, 2014; Schneider & Ingram, 2019).

The social construct of a target population, specifically African Americans, is negatively labeled as unworthy, underserving, and a burden on society's general welfare (Sabatier & Weible, 2014; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). The positive is categorized as worthy, deserving, and contributing to the general welfare. In other words, the positive is admired and favored. Public policy language takes on a tone that indicates that those who are positively constructed are good, hardworking, smart, loyal, disciplined, generous, caring, respectful, and creative. In contrast, negative social construction is the opposite; people are labeled as immoral, greedy, looking for a handout, lazy, disrespectful, and treated as unhuman (Sabatier & Weible, 2014; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). An application of social construction theory is the proposition that African American communities are selected first for housing hazardous sites. Public policy sends a signal that has been engrained in laws, administrative guidance, programs, and decision-making processes.

Social construction theory served as the lens to examine GEPD's efforts to include or exclude and encourage or discourage public participation in African American communities. My research was built to explore the GEPD's environmental decision-making process, how the process impacted the African American community of

Stonecrest, how GEPD can effectively inform African American communities of environmental actions, and the lack of outreach that prevents interactions. The study highlighted environmental awareness and attitudes toward public participation and whether GEPD encourages it.

Social construction theory relates to the present study because it allows exploration as to how and why the advantaged group—considered positive, wealthy, and powerful—receive benefits and the powerless do not. On the other hand, the disadvantaged group, labeled as shiftless, lazy, and often believed to be minorities, has no power (Sabatier & Weible, 2014; Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Social construction theory builds on existing theory to show that public policy negatively constructs target populations, which are marginalized, and discourages public participation. Using social construction theory as a lens helped me interpret the data to answer the research question regarding the perceptions, experiences, and recommendations of African American homeowners living in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020 concerning how GEPD addresses community concerns in the decision-making process before hazardous waste site permits are issued. Social construction theory can be used to demonstrate how policy design influences the treatment of the target population, the role of the powerful in this process, and its effect on politics and democracy (Pierce et al., 2014; Schneider & Ingram, 2019).

Target populations labeled as negative have little power and depend on the government to ensure their well-being. The phenomenon is that public policy is designed to message to the constructed target population what the government should do and how

citizens might be treated (Schneider & Ingram, 2007). Benefits and burdens are influenced by political power, which is considered positive. Based on their beliefs, the negative target population feels they do not deserve benefits. The negative target population is defined as "groups actually chosen to receive benefits and burdens through the various elements of policy design" (Sabatier, 2007, p. 95). As a result of this ideology, the negative target population is burdened or punished through policies that are disproportionately distributed, resulting in withdrawal from public participation (Schneider & Ingram, 2007, 2019). Various elements in the policy's design contribute to the disparities in environmental permitting as it relates to the negative target population (see Schneider et al., 2014).

#### **Literature Review Related to Key Concepts**

The literature review is a synthesis of the research on the phenomenon of policy design and its impact and influence on the GEPD decision-making process, public policymaking and design, public participation, environmental awareness, and messaging. I conducted the literature review to understand the impact and challenges African American communities face when left out of the environmental permitting process and, as a result, the location of hazardous sites and other unwanted facilities in their neighborhoods.

### **Policy Design**

Birungi and Colbourn (2019) researched how political processes influenced policy design regarding an AIDS target population. They confirmed social construction theory's prediction and patterns in policy benefits and burdens distribution. Health care

programs for AIDs citizens were influenced by finance policy design reform and to promote a political agenda. Due to the decline in external funding, the challenge for AIDs patients was how to maintain the program. Birungi and Colbourn recommended a reformed health care policy financing model. However, the researchers could not conclude which target population would prevail when more than one group was targeted, such as members of the LGBTQ community or health care workers.

For programs to be effective in water conservation policy design, local stakeholders must be included in the planning and implementation phases (O'Connell & Billingsley, 2020). O'Connell and Billingsley (2020) interviewed farmers and showed the importance of understanding the community, practices, history, and beliefs of stakeholders when designing policy regarding water quality. Findings indicated that farmers in the area had local knowledge of the situation and should be more than consultants and play a role in policy design.

Williams (2020) indicated that the male African American public workforce lacked adequate employment-based policies and programs. Williams studied the perceptions of public workforce employment professionals who helped recipients of the Workforce Innovation Opportunity Act programs. More positive results were achieved when the workforce sought jobs independently instead of through a mock interview preparation workshop. Being autonomous created an interest in the process and a meaningful relationship between managers and recipients when both parties' job search was independent. Williams recommended allocating more resources to independent programs and technology to develop autonomy to sustain meaningful employment.

Low-income housing is a problem nationwide, especially in Martha's Vineyard, Massachusetts. Leonard's (2018) research focused on policy design and noted that low-income housing was lacking due to program barriers and elected officials' policies and attitudes. Obstacles to this type of housing in Martha's Vineyard included rentals that were unavailable year-round because of winter and summer month demands and a policy that contributed to the low-income housing inventory. Benefits and burdens were influenced by political power, which was considered positive, and the belief that the negative target populations did not deserve benefits.

The phenomenon of policy design has been addressed in previous research, including education, health care, welfare, employment, environmental decision making, and housing. Most researchers concluded that policy design has contributed to the target population receiving either benefits or burdens. Previous studies were conducted in various disciplines impacting all areas of African American lives. My research benefited from this framework, adding to the literature by examining how GEPD's environmental policy design contributed to the distribution of burdens or benefits to its target population, discovering ways to improve and include all its citizens. Using a qualitative case study, I explored and provided a better understanding of how African American residents living in Stonecrest felt about being excluded from the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant the permit.

Environmental public participation began with the NEPA, which was created in 1970 (Daniels et al., 2021; Wikle, 2020). Researchers have studied environmental public participation through various lenses using different approaches. Wikle (2020) found the

NEPA guidelines were often applied inconsistently, and it does not have the capacity to prevent agencies from implementing irresponsible actions. Daniels et al. (2021) confirmed that the environmental impact assessment of the NEPA's strengths included being well-established worldwide; however, its weakness was its entrenched professional bureaucracy perspectives. There are threats to the NEPA framework, which dictates public participation in government decision making Daniels et al., 2021). Developers speed up the environmental process for financial gain; this fast approach is a threat to the environment, and, in some cases, governments have accepted this as the standard. The threat may increase as concerns for climate change grow and communities recognize the importance of public participation regarding environmental decisions.

Policy design can encourage or discourage public participation. According to Flynn (2021), public administrators are tasked with public policy formation and implementation and have varying degrees of discretion (Flynn, 2021). Public administrators (a) decide changes to the policy, (b) what government resources are allocated to the policy, (c) which populations will receive program benefits and which will not, (d) determine the operations of the program, (e) and which agents will have operational responsibilities (Flynn, 2021). Based on Flynn's findings, policy design rests with the policy architects and elected officials and can reflect their personal and group values, priorities, and beliefs.

According to a study by Bell (2020), policy design support for tuition-free college occurred when the design was universal and not based on students' families making less than \$50,000 a year. When examining affordable housing and policy design, DeBray

(2021) found that socially constructed images, as well as tenants, lenders, and landlords, influenced policy agenda according to social construction theory. Debray also suggested that the media and policymakers have constructed images and reflected popular press images of different target populations.

Ellis and Faricy (2020) examined the role of a policy delivery mechanism concerning tax expenditures, such as the earned income tax credit, labeled positive or deserving, and a monthly welfare check, categorized as negative. Findings suggested that the tax code was perceived as deserving and less driven by prejudices (Ellis & Faricy, 2020). Shiigi (2018) researched a proposal to increase public participation in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act through public notice. Shiigi examined timeline requirements and existing procedures for community engagement or intervention in addressing environmental hazards released to the public. Findings indicated that community members were not aware of the hazardous conditions in their community until it was too late due to inadequate public notice. Shiigi's recommendation was for an amendment that required notifications to be all-inclusive and published through television, the internet, and mail.

Both quantitative and qualitative methods have been used to study public participation and communication using social media in China. Zhao et al. (2018) examined the planning process of a network society in urban planning using elite groups and those with internet access. Planning a bus route using social media indicated that most citizens were excluded from participating (did not have internet) and were not actual users of the route. Rollason et al. (2018) examined how communities interacted at

the local level to determine how participation was translated into local practices. Rollason et al. concluded that more work was needed to achieve involvement in activities and recommended moving away from low-power process models that exclude local knowledge as unscientific and incapable of participating in the decision-making process.

Teschner and Holley (2021) found that local stakeholders felt their input was not considered, their voices were unheard, and they were frustrated when publicly participating in the NEPA process. In a study by Jollymore et al. (2018), consultation was used to explore public participation to evaluate outcomes and processes with limitations on classification. The counting process for submitters did not capture the diversity of the participants and the significant variability in the number of participant input submissions per category from community groups. Findings indicated barriers to successful participation, statistical differences between nonindustry and industry groups, and unequal participation, which influenced policymaking.

Gonzalez (2018) explored meaningful participation for local citizens to report environmental pollution incidents by examining community engagement, specifically, industry accessibility for locals and its impact on their ability and willingness to become involved. Findings showed that strong, resolute citizens or community connections must be developed or in place, and there must be a willingness to act, especially if there are widespread suppressors who are not concerned with environmental protection or oil companies operating below standard in opposition to those with no voice (Gonzalez, 2018).

Kroll et al. (2019) studied spillover effects due to performance management reform that promoted decision maker openness to input resulting in citizen orientation to public participation. The researchers found performance management enhanced citizen participation. Because of the many types of performance management and participation tools, the measurements concerning planning and customer satisfaction could not capture the full diversity of these practices. For example, participation and performance management tools might not work together to create customer orientation. More research is needed to examine how spillover affects customer orientation to participate.

Brown et al. (2017) studied African American women using civic engagement in a quasi-experimental pre- and poststudy design. The researchers examined improvement in heart health and found a positive result for the preliminary effectiveness of behavior change; however, the lack of comparison groups and sample size limited the study. In a mixed method study, Tataw and Ekundayo (2017) used a combination of focus groups, survey research, and community engagement to research prostate cancer among marginalized African American communities in the United States. They examined screening services as a factor for cancer prevention planning. The quantitative findings showed self-efficacy variables, such as knowledge types and attitudes, as predictors of screening services utilization; the qualitative themes included symptoms, risk factors, causes, and heredity. The disadvantage of this type of community engagement was that members did not take advantage of services in unwelcoming environments or seek information through hostile educational channels. Tataw and Ekundayo recommended alternatives, such as churches, in community health planning efforts.

Luque et al. (2015) conducted a feasibility study of community engagement utilizing barbershops in African American communities to examine prostate cancer and other health issues, including disparities that highlighted the importance of public participation. Barbers were interviewed for their willingness to participate in the intervention and become health advisors. Limitations of the study were that the barbershops and the towns where they were located were not randomly selected and could not be generalized to other areas where trust in the community was negative (Luque et al., 2015). Other researchers have explored barbershops and hair salons as public participation platforms, with findings indicating that health promotion interventions were a positive method for accomplishing cancer screening and managing hypertension and diabetes in African American communities that otherwise would go unchecked (Palmer et al., 2021; Roy et al., 2018)

Churches have a role in shaping their members' attitudes and promoting public participation. Ramirez et al. (2021) studied a church congregation in southwest

Philadelphia to promote good health for African Americans. Findings indicated the need to train more underrepresented racial minority health care practitioners to address disparities and the various ways racism has been embedded into society. This same study highlighted the importance of public participation and how churches can be a source of this, especially for hard-to-reach members. Hewitt et al. (2018) looked at the engagement of church members to examine environmental behavior, specifically on climate change.

The researchers determined that the relationships depended on the strength of religious

beliefs. According to Hewitt et al., a relationship exists between knowledge of protecting the environment and religious beliefs, resulting in a greater concern for the environment.

Hoang (2021) conducted a quantitative case study using 1160 questionnaires sent to citizens in Malaysia regarding their perceptions of citizens and public servants in local government. Findings indicated an inadequacy of public participation in programs, a lack of response to complaints, and a slow reaction in making basic repairs to infrastructure. Scholarship was also absent concerning racial and ethnic differences in public meetings. Hoang recommended that researchers examine how often respondents attend and speak publicly at the scoping meetings held to allow the public and local community the opportunity to offer comments or ask questions regarding proposed projects.

Atencio et al. (2022) examined public participation in Tribal government and consultation to address the impact of federal projects. The results confirmed that federal statutes, such as the NEPA and the National Historic Preservation Act, did not guarantee meaningful public participation and Tribal consultation or environmental justice. Atencio et al. recommended that input from the poorly served needed to be heard and the policy revised.

Researchers have reviewed the literature to examine public administrators and e-participation and discovered administrators were deficient in technology and organizational change. E-participation initiatives may fail due to barriers put up by public administrations (Steinbach et al., 2019; Toots, 2019). Attitude was the predictor of the public participation process as it related to nuclear research installations in a study by Hoti et al. (2021). Findings showed that community participants were enthusiastic about

being informed, wanted to participate in focus group discussions, and confirmed that the more extensive a person's knowledge, the better they were prepared to engage. Hoti et al. explored perceived behavior control and how including self-efficacy might improve the model.

Lappas et al. (2018) used content analysis to examine enabling citizen participation in Gov 2.0, a collaborative technology at the heart of Web 2.0, to solve shared problems by investigating citizen empowerment to achieve desired outcomes. This study was conducted in an organizational setting with a direct connection to a government context, which focused on the positive outcome of empowerment. Such practices could have negative outcomes, and Lappas et al. recommended exploring citizen empowerment in other disciplines.

Pearson et al. (2018) examined policy design for Latinos and environmental justice. Public perceptions have created barriers to addressing longstanding environmental disparities. Pearson et al. found that people of color expressed more concern for the environment than Whites. Policymakers have underestimated the environmental concerns of people of color and those with low incomes with the perception that people of color's environmental concerns were lower than those of Whites and the wealthy. According to Pearson et al., environmental compliance decreased in communities when there was significant Latino representation in the legislature. In other words, policies designed for environmental protection regarding people of color have been written in such a way that enforcement is unequally applied.

Previous policy design used to create home ownership was instrumental in helping develop policies for low-income target populations but failed to provide households with guidance on maintaining their homes (Okkola & Brunelle, 2018). This type of policy was designed with the assumption that economic benefits associated with homeownership would automatically transfer to low-income households once approved by the lending industry (Okkola & Brunelle, 2018). Soni et al. (2022) found that policy design for welfare programs was racially unequal and biased against certain disadvantaged groups. Using the lens of social construction and critical race theories, Soni et al. suggested that social welfare was racially discriminatory, and policies have a long legacy of excluding or oppressing African Americans, which are engrained in them.

Bell (2021) examined policy design in a study concerning the impact of Affirmative Action on socially constructed target populations. Findings suggested the policy design framed preferences based on beliefs of the deservingness of target population, similar to political leaders. Also, results demonstrated that public opinion was based on ideology and the racial or ethnic group's identity (Bell, 2021). Joseph (2018) also examined policy design for welfare and self-sufficient individuals and determined it has been set up to fail and not designed to help people experiencing poverty.

The Arkansas Lottery Scholarship Act is another example of policy design where burdens are placed on those with low incomes and gambling addictions (Copeland & Mamiseishvili, 2017). There were four target groups constructed in the policy design: higher education students, low-income individuals (dependents), retail vendors (contenders), and gambling addicts (deviants). The higher education students became the

advantaged group and benefitted because they received an education based on messaging at the school counselor level and other outreach programs that made the program more accessible and visible, such as scholarships. The higher education students benefitted from the low-income groups who played the lottery more than other groups. Copeland and Mamiseishvili confirmed that themes reinforced social construction theory and that policy design impacted the process. Duncheon (2020) examined policy design in the recruitment and selection practices for early entrants into college while in high school. The admission process was dictated by patterns that favored academically and privileged students and were based on beliefs of who was likely to succeed and more deserving, highlighting that reform was needed (Duncheon, 2020).

Stockman (2019) examined policy design to assess the impact of state immigration policy on immigrant communities concerning political engagement and child well-being. Findings showed that immigration policies had the most significant effect in Hispanic communities, followed by those identified as Asian; however, there was little effect on African Americans. There was a pattern across generations concerning state immigration, especially among children of Hispanic immigrants. Stockman's study highlighted the vital role of public participation in policymaking.

In another study by Ledford (2018) on welfare recipients and drug testing policy design, findings indicated institutional racism and public bias influenced policymakers in the proposal stage. Even though several states continue to develop drug testing policies for welfare recipients at a high cost, the results have been uncertain. In other words, the price might outweigh the benefit. There was no conclusive evidence regarding how many

individuals did not sign up due to drug testing requirements or if the policy deterred individuals from using drugs (Ledford, 2018).

Policy design has been explored in African American fathers' experiences of alienation from their children due to the Texas Family Code (Thomas, 2022). Thomas (2022) examined policy design regarding the Code's possession order's impact on the father-child relationship. Nine themes were developed from this study, indicating a positive father-child relationship, father standard legal rights, child support system biases and unfair treatment of the father, lack of understanding, equal rights for fathers, the deadbeat label, wanting more time with children, updating child support policies, and limited family structure.

Using a mixed-method approach, May and Ross (2018) examined whether the web platform operated by nongovernmental organizations provided a new avenue to widen community engagement. The results showed that this approach only attracted participants who had already been engaged and that interactions between community members mattered. May and Ross recommended being open to diversity because it is unknown who will contribute, and a simple and user-friendly platform removes as much complexity as possible.

Social construction theory points to the concepts of the GEPD decision-making process, public policymaking and design, public participation, environmental awareness, and messaging. Research has indicated that public participation and community engagement are influenced by awareness. Previous research has also demonstrated social construction takes on positive (e.g., retired and older individuals) or negative (e.g.,

welfare recipients, racial minority males, sex offenders) labels (Schneider & Ingram, 2019). The labeling of citizens has been used in policy design to determine which group receives benefits and which shoulders burdens (Schneider & Ingram, 2019).

# Georgia Environmental Protection Division's Decision-Making Process

The EPD is part of the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, a state agency responsible for protecting air, land, and water resources under the authority of state and federal environmental statutes. These laws regulate public and private facilities regarding air quality and others areas. The GEPD issues and enforces all state permits in these areas and has full delegation for federal environmental permits except Section 404, Wetlands. (EPD, 2022a).

The GEPD administers 26 state environmental laws and is responsible for programs under four federal acts: the Clean Air Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, and the Clean Water Act. GEPD also develops and enforces rules based on the OCGA statutes (Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment, 1982/2019). The GEPD's website references links to existing regulations, their corresponding laws or statutory authorizations, and proposed rules. Information on proposed rules remains on this page for at least 60 days after final action by the Board of Natural Resources.

GEPD lacks the necessary tools to address environmental justice issues (Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment, 1982/2019). If an entity wants to build a hazardous waste site in a community, there are no guidelines or laws governing the demographics or the economic burdens of residents before a permit is

granted. Furthermore, there is no meaningful way for African Americans to receive notification to participate and provide input in the permit decision-making process. In other words, African Americans cannot participate in the decision-making process without awareness of the proposed government action.

Forty-five percent of the state of Georgia's population consists of racial and ethnic minorities, according to the U.S. Census Bureau (2021). Due to its notification methods, GEPD's public participation process is noninclusive regarding environmental permitting decisions. African Americans may receive a notice of environmental activities if their email address is registered on GEPD's website. The GEPD announces public hearings and explains the protocols required to provide comments, statements, or viewpoints, orally or in writing through email. Besides email, GEPD's website links to public announcements regarding specific permits, determinations, stakeholder meetings, and other activities (see EPD, 2022b). Proposed rule public notices are voted on by the Department of Natural Resources regarding environmental regulations (see EPD, 2022d). A separate GEPD website provides information about enforcement actions and public notices for proposed consent orders (see EPD, 2022c). GEPD protects air, land, and water resources based on state environmental statutes (EPD, 2022a). These statutes regulate air and water quality, hazardous water, water supply, solid waste, surface mining, and underground storage. All state permits for these areas are under GEPD's authority.

In addition, some permits or other activities have specific requirements. For example, certain permits must be posted in particular locations, such as newspapers or

legal organizations. Environmental covenants must be mailed to adjacent landowners before they are recorded on the deed. If a community member does not have access to a computer or electronic communication device with internet capability, there is no way to be notified of proposed government action in Georgia other than in the legal notice section of the local newspaper or legal organization. There is no other method of notification for GEPD's proposed government action. Getting African Americans to participate in decision-making activities is difficult to achieve (Wilson et al., 2019), and without a user-friendly approach to participation, communities will continue to deteriorate and attract undesirable industries.

# **Public Policymaking and Design**

Public opinion sets the boundaries for policymaking (Fforde, 2019). Agencies have discretion in their policymaking through the Administrative Procedure Act, which has moved the process away from the public (Ruder & Woods, 2020; Sant'Ambrogio & Staszewski, 2018). Public administrators make and implement policy, manage programs, as well as shape, influence, and design its processes. (Boushey & McGrath, 2020; Starke, 2020). Boundaries are created by policies that target populations using old and new constructions that are engrained in images and messages in the details of policy design (Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Schneider and Ingram (2019) claimed policymaking is a political act with conflict designed to organize the public, resembling neoliberalism, and marginalizes the public's role in the policy process if kept in place. During the inquiry, public views are cherry-picked to support policy agendas and ignored when opposed, even when transparency efforts are attempted. Policy meetings where decisions are made

are not accessible to the public, and rules guiding the decisions are unknown.

Policymaking aligns with industry instead of the public (Popiel, 2020; Searle & Legacy, 2021). Industry can participate and provide comments in the rulemaking process because of their expertise, while public input is mainly for political issues under consideration (D. A. Crow et al., 2017).

The group socially constructed as advantaged is oriented toward policy and politics if the government favors them. The advantaged group has been taught the importance of government, that policy is fair with beneficial outcomes, and that the payoff is significant if public officials are supported (Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Legislators usually support policies based on their beliefs, experiences, and religion (Arnon, 2018; Hogan, 2021). Public policy design has often been the result of concern regarding political risks and keeping the support base satisfied for leadership groups and institutions rather than solving citizens' problems (Head, 2019). Many actors shape public policy designs by defining problems and solutions that support their interests (Peters et al., 2018). The political actors must accept proposed solutions to problems before policies are designed and developed (Bali et al., 2019). Because public policy design relates to environmental policy, municipalities focus on amenities and services, whereas states concentrate on resources and risks (Lim, 2021).

Civil servants can initiate policy change by extending their agenda, especially when there is gridlock or political power is divided (Boushey & McGrath, 2020). State governments can implement rulemaking when gridlock or political power interferes with

policymaking. Other political actors, such as constituents, interest groups, or members of legislative committees, can lobby directly to solve problems.

## **Public Participation**

Other than the voting booth, public participation is the most viable and democratic way for citizens to participate in government decision making (Stephan, 2005). Public participation and community engagement are used interchangeably in this current study. According to the EPA (2022), public participation is defined as "any process that directly engages the public in decision-making and gives full consideration to public input in making that decision" (para. 1). Public participation is practiced worldwide to address various policies, build relationships, and encourage communication and community involvement in the hope of obtaining a better outcome (Lane & Kent, 2018). M. Taylor and Kent (2014) expanded on this further and claimed there is already a relationship between organizations and stakeholders, with benefits for all. Community engagement usually refers to long-term relationships and is often seen as a two-way or multiway process where participants expect to have some type of influence in decisions (Ross et al., 2016). Community engagement is an excellent opportunity to build and maintain relationships.

Public participation in environmental issues is believed to be an afterthought or a form of demonstrating that all boxes have been checked, fulfilling a NEPA requirement before making decisions on actions such as permit approval (Rowe & Watermeyer, 2018). In other words, public participation should happen early in the planning process rather than later. Rowe and Watermeyer (2018) found there has been a lack of honesty in

promoting public participation, and when there is an opportunity to participate, input or rigorous evaluation has not been accepted. Various research has discovered that policymaking has failed to focus on the most vulnerable communities because of their constituents' interests inside and outside the government (Hopkins & Knaap, 2018; Woodruff, 2018).

Decision makers should accommodate diverse values from the community they serve, especially concerning their well-being and benefit (Bidwell & Schweizer, 2020; Liang et al., 2019). When the quality of decision making improves, the results are positive, and decisions are enhanced and accepted; therefore, social democracy increases when the public is involved (Abou-Zeid & Fujii, 2016; Bidwell, 2016; Bidwell & Schweizer, 2020; Perlaviciute, 2019). Public participation in decision-making is a prerequisite, especially regarding target populations, to promote effective outcomes (Tse et al., 2018). Berke et al. (2021) suggested expanding public participation through training, technical assistance, and regularly monitoring plans and implementation practices.

There is no public participation in environmental policymaking when there is no notification or awareness of what to engage in or how to be active in the process. For the community to engage with decision makers, a notice must be given identifying planned actions so that interested individuals are aware and can participate if they choose. A notice of action allows African American communities to become aware of environmental activities and offers an opportunity for involvement in the decision-making process, such as attending meetings or forums. Involvement allows the

community member to become environmentally aware of what might impact them. Good public participation indicates community awareness, which creates communications with the government (Gailmard & Patty, 2017; Lee et al., 2017).

The level of satisfaction is the indicator for determining GEPD's method of notifying community members to participate in meetings for government proposed action. Satisfaction is defined as the percentage of community members that receive notification of government-proposed environmental action meetings. African American citizens have not been allowed to engage in environmental policymaking until a decision has been made and becomes controversial. Communities cannot participate in environmental policymaking when there is no messaging. Schneider and Ingram (2019) suggested benefits and burdens are distributed through various elements of policy design to achieve a public purpose.

### **Environmental Awareness**

Environmental awareness should not be used to manipulate the community or rectify existing power relationships that continue to marginalize those at risk. Neither should environmental awareness be a condition for public participation (Kedzior, 2017). Instead, environmental awareness is knowledge that can help a community understand the complex business of environmental decision making. Environmental awareness is defined as knowing the impact of human behavior on the environment and an understanding and awareness of the environment and its related issues (Ianniello et al., 2019; Rahmani et al., 2021). Environmental awareness has been used to assess college students' knowledge of the environment in urban areas. Ningrum and Herdiansyah (2018)

found that female students were more aware of the environment than their male counterparts. Findings showed no relationship between environmental awareness and the level of education; however, there was a positive relationship between gender, education, and place of residence.

Although most people have a general understanding of environmental issues, they lack knowledge of how the decision-making process works, understand the environmental laws that protect them, and are unaware of publicized information regarding environmental programs (Li et al., 2017). Community members must be cognizant of an environmental activity or action so that public participation can occur. According to Rahmani et al. (2021), "Public awareness of environmental protection is the ability to be aware of the changes that take place in the environment, including the world around us, the relationship between human behavior, and the quality of the environment" (p. 1). On the other hand, environmental awareness is when an individual understands environmental quality, human activities, environmental behavior, perceptions, and attitudes (Rahmani et al., 2021).

Du et al. (2018) conducted a water conservation study in China and found that attitude was the factor that influenced environmental awareness rather than demographics. Findings showed the need for environmental awareness to better inform the community of policies and activities impacting their well-being (Du et al., 2018). According to MacPhail et al. (2020), the way to measure environmental awareness is by counting and tracking community members' attendance at public or scoping meetings for further evaluation or inquiry to discover their experiences. Awareness alone is not

enough; public participation should include having a positive attitude and a willingness to participate in improvement activities for a healthy environment (Jo & Nabatchi, 2021).

According to Gustria and Fauzi (2019), there is a need for an environmental framework that is integrated into various school curricula. Their research consisted of three survey-designed questionnaires to measure views on environmental issues and evaluate them along with the attitudes of secondary school students. Environmental perspectives can easily be included in schools' curricula. The lack of students' knowledge regarding environmental issues pointed to family background, gender, age, and socioeconomic status.

## Messaging

With awareness comes messaging. Primary obstacles to public participation are information deficiencies and the lack of equality (Ianniello et al., 2019). Language is etched in social situations and reinforces specific ways of thinking; if there is not a vision for justice and a method for citizens to be included in the decision-making process, democracy will be a cover for exploitation and domination (K. Crow et al., 2021; Hermansson, 2019). Inequality is structurally connected to a political culture saturated with symbols of equality through public awareness and partisanship (Edelman, 1988). Adequate communication of government-proposed actions should be investigated to determine if efforts have been made to include communities impacted by environmental activities in the decision-making process. According to K. Crow et al. (2021), Environmental communication to mean the pragmatic and constitutive vehicle for our understanding of the environment as well as our relationships to the natural world; it is

the symbolic medium that we use in constructing environmental problems and in negotiating society's different responses to them. (p. 19)

Limited communication of government-proposed action could be the reason African American communities are burdened with hazardous sites, with polluting industries creating environmental degradation (Yetano & Royo, 2017). The process of inviting African Americans to participate in meetings needs improvement, which includes publishing government-proposed actions in a manner that is accessible to all and creating an awareness of environmental activities (Yetano & Royo, 2017).

Rosenbloom and Fisk (2017) asserted that notices should be placed in areas familiar to the community and not in small print in legal sections of local newspapers. Community members have the right to know (transparency), the right to comment (direct participation), and the right of standing (accountability). These are associated with a written request for information, public hearings testimony, written comment letters, and legal action. Furthermore, environmental communication must be more accessible and started early in the process, and environmental protection language should be usable (K. Crow et al., 2021). Proposed government action should be posted on agencies' websites and other mediums for maximization (Bonson et al., 2017).

A more precisely designed public participation format improves inclusiveness, resulting in better involvement (Hong, 2015). Due to the digital divide, African Americans might not be aware of the government's proposed action. The digital divide is not recent, but was highlighted because of the COVID-19 pandemic, as African Americans lack access to information (Frank, 2020). For example, community members

had no access to the internet to participate in environmental justice issues concerning the proposed Natural Gas Power Plant project in Charles City County, Virginia (Soraghan, 2020). The public participation process should offer meaningful opportunities that have an influence on decision-making outcomes (Nabatchi et al., 2018; Quick & Bryson, 2022; Wilson et al., 2019).

Studies have indicated policy designs are developed to target populations negatively or positively to determine which groups are awarded benefits or saddled with burdens. Studies have also shown that policy design is influenced by agendas set by politicians and powerful individuals labeled as positive. Positive groups are those in elected offices with connections to wealthy stakeholders who set agendas. African Americans are labeled negatively due to their powerless voices and other elements outlined by Ingram et al. (2019). Policy design usually frames African Americans as the negative target population who bear burdens in policies, such as welfare, housing (Leonard, 2018), and education (Bell, 2020).

## **Summary and Conclusions**

The major themes in the literature are policy design, the GEPD decision-making process, public policymaking and design, public participation, environmental awareness, and messaging. What was not known was how African American homeowners in Stonecrest felt about GEPD's environmental permitting process, which has been designed so that decisions can be made without their input and knowledge. My study contributed to the field of public administration for several reasons. First, no research had been done to examine if the methods used to announce GEPD decision making for environmental

action impacted African Americans communities. My research helped fill the gap by determining if GEPD's decision-making processes were all-inclusive from the perceptions and experiences of the African American homeowners in Stonecrest. Second, this research could assist the EPA in outlining its future environmental justice plans that some studies found are needed (see Alexander et al., 2021; Banzhaf et al., 2019; Heguehag, 2019; Henderson & Wells, 2021). This research was vital because it highlighted and addressed hazardous environmental conditions that burden racial minority communities (see Bullard, 2019; Donley et al., 2022; Frickel & Elliott, 2018; B. L. Johnson, 2020; Richter, 2018; Smith & Blowers, 2021). Third, my study's findings showed the necessity to save the culture and improve the health and living conditions where African Americans live, work, and play. Fourth, my study supported deficiencies regarding environmental policymaking, public health, crime, and social well-being and is a distinctive contribution to the scholarly literature. Finally, the results of my study could be used to provide the framework that creates new attitudes toward environmental inequality and promote social change in all communities.

The reviewed literature demonstrated that policy design and public participation had been a topic of concern to many researchers. Scholars have been interested in uncovering the impact that environmental awareness and messaging have on public participation in at-risk communities. Researchers have studied awareness in education, health, and the environment. The literature did not address Georgia's government agencies' roles and efforts to encourage public participation in their environmental decision-making process. In Chapter 3, I discuss the study's research design and

rationale, my role as the researcher, and the methodology that helped close the gap in the literature.

# Chapter 3: Methodology

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and better understand how African American residents living in Stonecrest felt about the hazardous waste site being placed in their community without an opportunity to provide input into the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant permits. In this chapter, I detail the study's research design, rationale, and my role as the researcher. I discuss the methodology, including participant selection logic, instrumentation, and procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection. I provide a data analysis plan and address any issues of trustworthiness.

# **Research Design and Rationale**

The research question guiding this study was the following: What are the perceptions, experiences, and recommendations of African American homeowners living in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020 concerning how GEPD addresses community concerns in the decision-making process before hazardous waste site permits are issued? Yin (2018) suggested that a case study is preferred when answering "how" and "why" questions and is ideal for handling a variety of data, such as interviews, documents, direct observation, and artifacts. Yin stated that a case study is an empirical method used to investigate a contemporary phenomenon in the real world when the phenomenon and context are not clearly defined and understood. Creswell and Poth (2017) recognized the strengths of the case study approach when investigating an unknown phenomenon that

can be studied in its natural setting; the case study approach allows for more meaningful questions regarding why rather than what and how, and early exploratory investigations when there are unknown variables.

Creswell (2007) described the case study approach as ideal for developing an indepth description and analysis of a case or multiple cases. The case study approach also provides a deeper understanding through analysis of data collected from interviews, observations, and documents. A case study involves an issue or problem investigated through one or more data sources within a bounded system (Creswell, 2007). The bounded system is recommended to illustrate the issue as an instrumental case study (Stakes, 1995). The scope of the current case study was limited to Stonecrest, Georgia. The single case study approach allows for more in-depth knowledge and an opportunity to examine new relationships as well as old (Dyer & Wilkins, 1991).

Other qualitative approaches, such as phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative, were considered. Creswell (2007) emphasized that phenomenological studies are designed to explore what the participants have in common, reducing individual experiences within a phenomenon. Creswell described an ethnographic approach as one that examines shared patterns in units of analysis larger than 20 individuals and usually aligns with a grounded theory study. Finally, Creswell described the narrative approach as focusing on one person's experience, traditionally presented in story format.

A case study represents a phenomenon of interest (Guetterman & Fetters, 2018; Yin, 2018). Through my qualitative case study approach, I explored the experiences of residents living in Stonecrest who had encountered the GEPD decision-making

permitting process related to the Metro Green Recycling, LLC hazardous landfill. I selected a case study as the most suitable approach because it allowed for multiple sources for data collection, including public information, legislation, and residents' experiences while living in or near the setting of the hazardous landfill. Using a case study approach, I analyzed and developed an understanding of the phenomenon in a real-world environment. As described in Chapter 2, African American communities are often the first choice for placing hazardous waste sites and other unwanted environmental actions. However, existing research had not addressed how the GEPD decision-making process impacts Georgia's African American communities.

A case study is most useful when the main research question focuses on how and what, when there is little or no control over behavioral events, and when the focus of the study is contemporary as opposed to historical (Yin, 2018). Tracy (2019) expanded this concept and noted that a case study is an in-depth examination of one or a few instances of a natural phenomenon, such as an organization, program, or geographical location.

Case studies are intensive, single units conducted in numerous fields, including political science (Apostol & Netedu, 2020; Yin, 2018), education (Alghizzawi et al., 2019; Klaassen, 2018; Yildirim et al., 2018), and health (Onie et al., 2018; Sommariva et al., 2018). According to Müller and Korsgaard (2018), a unit is a spatially bounded phenomenon observed at a single point in time or over delimited time. Yin (2018) found the fewer the cases, the better opportunity for more profound observation. Case study research provides an opportunity for a holistic view of the process (Yin, 2018). Theory or

conceptual categories guide the case study, and it is a way to gather information about an event or community to inform decisions, policymaking, or business practices (Yin, 2018).

### Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher was to be transparent and reflexive in the research inquiry and avoid any conflict of interest. I did not have any personal or professional relationship with the potential participants. The potential for researcher bias could be perceived based on my background and knowledge of the permitting process. I currently work for the U.S. Department of the Interior and am responsible for protecting endangered species, historical properties, and Native Americans. I provided a climate of comfort for the participants by listening and allowing them to complete their thoughts without interruption. I managed bias by being transparent, inclusive, and gender neutral; choosing words carefully using a third person point of view; being open-minded; recognizing opinions; and having a positive attitude.

The names of the participants were not used to track the interviews; instead, I used alphanumeric codes. I advised each participant to retain their consent form for their records. I was the only person with access to data stored on my computer, recorder, and external storage device. I used Zoom's recording feature to record the interview if the participant agreed, which was also indicated on the consent form.

I used semistructured interviews with open-ended questions in an unbiased manner, asking "how" instead of "why" questions to avoid creating a defensive participant response or generating speculation and opinion (see Yin, 2018). Asking nonthreatening questions increases rapport and helps to create an environment in which

participants may feel more comfortable and willing to share information (Yin, 2018). The interview questions all began with "how" or "what," recommended by Nathan et al. (2019), allowing the participants to freely expand on their experiences and perceptions.

Yin (2018) further advised minimizing the conversational nature of the interview because it may lead to a subtle reflexivity influence, a change or distinction too difficult to analyze or describe regarding feelings and reactions between the participant and the researcher. Yin noted that case study interviews should last no more than 45 minutes to gain in-depth information and limit the opportunity for reflexivity. Wadams and Park (2018) advised researchers to control their nonverbal communication to avoid influencing a participant's response based on their perception of the interviewer. Further, Yin advised the researcher to refrain from making moral statements in the interview.

My role as the researcher was to ensure safeguards to protect the participants' privacy and confidentiality, including names and other identifying information. I also informed the participants of these safeguards and key elements of the study's protocol. Keeping the safeguards in focus gave the participants assurance and a sense of trust.

# Methodology

### **Participant Selection Logic**

The population for this study was African American homeowners residing in Stonecrest, Georgia, within zip codes 30038 and 30058, who purchased their homes before 2017. The participants must have resided in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020. Stonecrest became a city in 2017 and is located in the southeastern corner of Dekalb County, bordering Clayton, Fulton, Gwinnett, Henry, and Rockdale counties. The

population is 54,903 and is 94% African American, with a median household income of \$49,865 and 44.6% homeownership (U.S. Census Bureau, 2019). The participants must also have been able to read and speak English. This study did not include residents outside of Stonecrest, other races or ethnic groups, or renters.

I used purposive and snowball sampling methods. Purposive sampling reflects intentional participant recruitment to more effectively obtain data sources familiar with the phenomenon of interest (Suri, 2011). This method was the most effective for the current qualitative case study because this type of participant provided firsthand knowledge of the research problem. I combined purposeful and snowball sampling to identify and invite potential participants meeting my study's inclusion criteria.

The participants could have changed their minds and withdrawn at any time during the study, including during the interviews. During the screening process and at the end of the interview, I asked the participants if they knew others who might have met the study criteria, were interested, and wanted to participate. I did not ask for a name but advised the participants to share my contact information to refer others who might have been eligible for the study. Snowball sampling is often used to connect with the hard-to-reach or hidden target populations (Andrews, 2019). Using snowball sampling allowed me to discover new sampling units and increase participant availability. This approach is ideal for expected low recruitment situations.

I asked each potential participant who contacted me in response to the recruitment flyer (see Appendix A) or church letter (see Appendix B) specific questions located in the screening guide (see Appendix C). Eligibility was determined based on a "yes" response to the screening questions. Also, during the screening process, I asked the potential participants if they were aware of others who might have an interest in the study and would like to participate.

I recruited eight community members who met the study's inclusion criteria; saturation was achieved after all interviews were completed. Sample size is determined after the data collected are saturated. According to Saunders et al. (2018), specifying how many participants are needed to understand a phenomenon is not logical. Many qualitative case study researchers use saturation as a guide (Aguboshim, 2021; Creswell, 2014; Kruth, 2015; Schäfer et al., 2014). Creswell (2007) recommended a sample size between four and 10 for case studies.

I contacted potential participants via a recruitment flyer posted on social media outlets such as Facebook and Nextdoor. The post included an overview of the case study and information for potential participants interested in contacting me. The flyer included the purpose of the study, eligibility criteria, assurance of confidentially, my Walden email address, and my phone number. A church invitation letter was used to contact potential participants. The church letter was emailed to several churches with large memberships located in the study area for their media outlets to broadcast to possible interested participants.

After I received notice indicating a participant was interested in the study, I responded to the email or phone call to establish eligibility using the screening guide.

Once eligibility and contact information were established, a consent form was emailed to the potential participant. I informed the participant that they would receive a consent

form to complete and return to me via email. The consent form provided information about the study, including the interview process (via Zoom), audio recording, voluntary nature, ability to withdraw at any time, and confidentiality assurance. The eligible participants returned their consent forms indicating "I consent" to my Walden email address. The consent form had a box to check indicating consent. Once the consent form was received, I contacted the participant to schedule a convenient time for the interview.

I recorded contact information on an Excel spreadsheet. The initial goal was to (a) make sure the potential participant met the criteria, (b) explain the purpose of the study, (c) inform the participant of the time it would take to complete the interview, (d) identify the benefits and risks of participating in the study, and (e) discuss the confidentiality of the data. Also, the initial email was an opportunity to establish rapport and create a relaxed environment. I ensured the participant knew that participation was voluntary, and they had the right to withdraw from the study at any time without any consequences. I also discussed with them the time frame for the interview and reminded them to be in a quiet location with limited distractions. I shared with the potential participant that I am an African American residing in Georgia.

All eight eligible participants were interviewed. No participant changed their mind and exited the study. Some interview questions were listed on the consent form as suggested by Walden University. Each interview occurred during a one-time Zoom call once all participants were selected and scheduled. I advised each participant that a transcript of their responses would be shared with them for edits or for them to provide comments. Other information on the consent form included interview duration, the

possibility of conducting a follow-up interview, statements regarding confidentiality, and information on the ability to withdraw at any time or to reschedule if necessary.

Determining sample size in qualitative research is challenging (Hennink et al., 2019). Sample size is often determined by saturation. The sample size must be appropriate to accomplish the saturation of theory, themes, codes, data, and meaning. Saturation allows for the investigation of objective and individual evidence. Saturation is inductive and should remain flexible until themes are realized (Hennink et al., 2019). Saturation and sample size are established when the same themes are highlighted continuously from the interviews, no new data are revealed, and redundancy is obvious. There are no assessment standards for sample size for a qualitative study (Andrews, 2019; Braun & Clarke, 2021; Lowe et al., 2018; Malterud et al., 2016).

### Instrumentation

I developed an interview protocol (see Appendix D) to conduct individual interviews via Zoom. I asked open-ended questions so participants could share their perspectives. The *City of Stonecrest, Georgia and Citizens for a Healthy and Safe Environment v. Metro Green Recycling Three, LLC, et al.* (2020) was the legal document used as a data source. This legal case represented the best source of data. The interview protocol offers more flexibility, can contribute to a higher participation rate, and is appropriate for in-depth probing (Creswell & Báez, 2020; Gubrium et al., 2012). Interviews are useful when the participant cannot be observed, allowing for more control over questioning (Creswell, 2009; Creswell & Poth, 2017). I used a semistructured

format to gather data sequentially to ensure all participants were asked the same questions in the same order.

Because the interview protocol assisted me in asking questions in the same order, there was no confusion regarding how the responses would used to determine the findings (see Andrews, 2019; Frankfort-Nachmias et al., 2015). In semistructured interviews, the meaning of each question is equal for each participant. Components of the interview protocol included headings with date, time, representative code of the interviewee, and other information that will be captured in a log. The interview protocol also included procedures to be followed from one interview to the next, with an icebreaker question followed by 10 interview questions. I recorded feedback from the interviewee regarding what they said, with a space between the questions to ensure I noted the response. I kept a log to record the documents collected and noted primary or secondary materials for reliability and value or data sources (see Creswell, 2014; Creswell & Poth, 2017; Yin, 2018).

Yin (2018) suggested the researcher should follow their own line of questioning, asking questions in a nonbiased manner, and record discussions (if possible) to decrease missing crucial information. However, recording should not be done if the participant is uncomfortable. Yin also recommended not using the recorder as a substitute for listening. In the current study, the selected participants received an email confirmation or phone call indicating the date and time of the interview. I recorded one interview at a time with each participant's consent.

I developed the interview protocol based on recommendations from Yin (2018), Creswell (2014), and Rubin and Rubin (2005). I thoroughly understood the phenomenon being studied; asking good questions is required during data collection (Yin, 2018). The data collection instrument was developed to answer the research question regarding community members' experiences and perceptions of GEPD's permitting decision-making process.

The open-ended interview questions allowed the participants to describe their experiences and perceptions in detail. Every day lived experiences are best explained through qualitative interviews, which allow community members to express and expand upon their experiences and perceptions (see Döringer, 2021; Edwards & Holland, 2013; Nathan et al., 2019; Rubin & Rubin, 2005). Questions developed for the interviews were based on the key concepts discussed in Chapter 2, including policy design, the GEPD decision-making process, public policymaking and design, public participation, environmental awareness, and messaging. It was important to collect this data to understand the community members' experiences and perceptions of the GEPD decision-making process and whether messaging is sufficient or needs improvement.

In addition, the participants had the opportunity to confirm the narrative to me after the interview and after the transcripts were available with their responses and perspectives. I checked with each participant to inquire and clarify that their accounts were realistic and accurate by including their comments in the final narrative. This added credibility to the study because the participants had a chance to react to the data.

Collaboration and investing time in the process meant the participants were involved in

the study, further adding credibility. A thick, detailed description of the study, the target population, and the community demonstrated how people felt about the subject, which may help the reader understand these experiences are real and credible. It also helps the reader apply the findings to similar settings or contexts.

I used triangulation to search the data for common themes, combining overlapping areas. I provided corroborating information discovered from interviews and court records. The narrative from the participants in the target community provided firsthand knowledge of their experiences with court records of the ligation process to validate the study. I disclosed my assumptions, beliefs, and biases that may have shaped the inquiry early in this study. Identifying biases and beliefs at the beginning of the process gave participants an understanding of their positions.

The data collection instrument was developed to answer the research question and the purpose of the study regarding community members' experiences and perceptions of the GEPD permitting process. The questions were developed in everyday language without academic jargon (see Nathan et al., 2019), which helped to make the participants comfortable in their responses. My basis for developing the interview protocol was to ask pertinent questions to help answer the research question by obtaining the community members' understanding, perceptions, and experiences of the phenomenon. Yin (2003, 2018) recommended asking good interview questions, interpreting the answers fairly, being a good listener, as well as striving to be adaptive and flexible. My committee chair and methodologist reviewed and analyzed the questions for appropriateness. The

interview protocol listed the open-ended questions asked using Zoom and was the primary data collection instrument.

### **Data Collection**

A hazardous waste landfill was permitted in Stonecrest, Georgia, a predominantly African American community, within 18 months of its charter. The study specifically focused on homeowners residing in zip codes 30038 and 30058, where the data were collected between 2017 and 2020. Data also were drawn from the case of the *City of Stonecrest, Georgia, and Citizens for a Healthy and Safe Environment v. Metro Green Recycling Three, LLC, et al.* I was the sole researcher collecting data.

Data were collected from one interview with each participant, lasting no more than 45 minutes (see Yin, 2018). I conducted eight interviews over 2 months. Information was included on the consent form, including the time it would take to complete the interview. The interview time was scheduled based on the availability of the participants and noted during the screening process. I informed the participant that their information and that of others would be analyzed, and if they were interested, they might obtain the findings once the study was complete. I thanked the participants for being a part of the study and for taking time from their schedules to be interviewed.

The semistructured interviews were conducted in English from the privacy of my home. The participants provided consent to be recorded. The audio recording feature on Zoom was used to record the conversations, and I informed the participants when the recording began. Detailed notes were taken to also record the data. Note-taking ensured I was listening and could serve as a backup if the digital recorder failed. Taking notes also

allowed me to note follow-up questions to be used later in the interview. As mentioned, I received permission from the participants before recording their responses. There were no participants who refused to be recorded.

I emailed flyers to churches in the surrounding study area to extend an invitation to participate. Ekúndayò et al. (2020) solicited church participants in a study regarding physical activities in an urban minority community. Tataw and Ekundayo (2017) found that churches are a communication outlet and educational channel for community health planning and engagement.

Before exiting the interview, I allowed the participant an opportunity to make additional comments if they felt something had not been asked or needed to be included. I summarized the notes taken during the interview and reminded the participants of the study's confidentiality and their right to withdraw even after completing the interview. Each participant received a transcribed copy of their responses via email for clarification and triangulation and to ensure validity. I thanked the participant for taking part in the study and advised them that a transcript of the interview would be emailed to them for their review and edits. I used the Zoom transcription feature to transcribe each interview, putting them into a Microsoft Word document. The participants had the option to validate the accuracy of the transcript, clarify, or add new information. I informed the participants that a follow-up interview might be required for clarification during the screening process and at the time of the interview. I ensured the participant understood that follow-up was a part of the interview process, also noted on the consent form; however, this was not necessary.

### **Data Analysis Plan**

I collected data from homeowners residing in Stonecrest and court documents showing litigation concerning a hazardous waste site permitted in their community. The connection of data to the research question is displayed in Appendix E. I used the research question in the first column to drive the study; the interview questions were used to answer the research question; the participants' responses, patterns, and themes followed, respectively. The participant's responses were grouped in relationship to the interview questions. Common patterns and themes were organized as they emerged.

In vivo and axial coding were used to organize data and weigh the codes. In vivo coding captured the participants' voices in phases, indicated their perceptions, and told their stories (see Saldana, 2021). Results were presented in themes. In vivo coding was done in the first coding cycle and the participants' exact words were used. I used the chart to display the participants' responses in the third column and themes in the fourth. Axial coding was done in the second cycle to weigh the dominant codes and their importance (see Saldana, 2013). I looked for patterns in the codes to categorize and group them to form themes displayed in the fourth column. Data were coded manually to identify emerging themes and patterns from each interview. After each interview, I transcribed and entered the participant's responses into tables based on thematic and pattern analysis.

#### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

## Credibility

Internal validity requires accuracy and checking for misinformation using specific procedures (Creswell & Poth, 2017). For this study, I used triangulation by examining information from the sources to build justification for themes. Allowing the participants to review the transcripts also increased credibility. I detailed the findings with rich, thick descriptions, giving the reader a sense that they had experienced or could experience this phenomenon, which provides a sense of shared experience. This approach provided a detailed version of how the participants felt regarding their community being the host of a hazardous waste site.

## **Transferability**

I documented this qualitative case study's procedures so that others could replicate them. I established the case study protocol recommended by Yin (2018). The interview protocol contained interview questions and rules to be followed. The protocol consisted of an overview of the case study, data collection procedures, interview questions, and an outline for the case study report. This protocol could help researchers efficiently replicate the study.

### **Dependability**

Dependability reduces bias and errors in a case study (Yin, 2018). I documented the procedures in as much detail as possible. Documentation could corroborate data from other sources and play a prominent role in data collection; it could be used for background and preparatory information. Documentation can also help dispute any

biases. Documenting the problem in detail and creating a case study database is suggested by Creswell (2014) and Yin (2018). Answers to questions from the participants and court case documentation were justification for themes, which added to the study's dependability.

## **Confirmability**

I provided a detailed description of the steps in the interview process, which served as an audit trail so an observer could repeat the study step-by-step (see Johnson Gaither et al., 2019; Patton, 2015; Yin, 2018). Having an interview protocol contributed to the detection of biases, personal interests, and perspectives. Taking advantage of nonparticipants to serve as peer debriefers helped me discover biases and assumptions and highlight other perspectives that might have been missed. The debriefers reminded me that I assumed the participants had all the details regarding the GEPD permitting process, that they had a clear understanding of the hazardous waste site being built, and a bias of what it meant for their community.

#### **Ethical Procedures**

Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved the interview questions as well as the consent form (Approval No. 01-18-23-0251037). I followed the guidelines set by the IRB. I indicated that no participant would be forced to participate in the study and that it was strictly voluntary. An electronic consent form was provided to the potential participants detailing the procedures and participation risks and that privacy and confidentiality were assured. All data are maintained on an encrypted USB drive in a secure location and will be stored for 5 years after completion of the study as required by

IRB and later destroyed in a manner that protects the participants' privacy. The IRB Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative certificate is provided in Appendix F. No payments were made to the participants.

The participants' recorded responses to interview questions were stored in my secured file cabinet. Transcribed participant responses were documented using Microsoft Word and stored on my personal computer, OneDrive, and an encrypted flash drive with password protection. More than one storage source served as a backup in case of computer problems or file corruption. Participants were advised that transcribed information is for historical purposes and stored if needed or appropriate according to IRB requirements. Also, the participants were informed their identities would continue to be protected after the study. Before participation could begin, the participants signed a consent form, and I made it clear the interview could stop at any time. Participants were also advised they could review the transcript of their responses to ensure I interpreted and transcribed them correctly. I was committed to maintaining these safeguards while capturing the participants' experiences and perceptions in their own voices. Before data were shared, all identifying information was removed. Therefore, all names were coded to ensure confidentiality and that there were no retaliation or repercussions from the study for the participants.

Only I have access to the data. Participants were advised of the purpose of the data collected (see Cox et al., 2014). The consent form contained confidentiality protocols mandated by the Privacy Act of 1974 and the Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act of 1998. The participants were homeowners who resided in Stonecrest

from 2017 to 2020 and were not from my work environment. There was no conflict of interest or power differential. There were no incentives to participate in this study.

## **Summary**

In Chapter 3, I discussed the research design and rationale for this qualitative case study, including my role as the researcher, management of biases, and any conflict of interest. Chapter 3 also provided details on the study's methodology, including participant selection logic, instrumentation, and procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection. Finally, I discussed issues of trustworthiness and ethical procedures followed.

I conducted eight semistructured interviews with African Americans who resided and owned a home within the zip codes 30035 and 30094 and could read and speak English. I used purposeful and snowball sampling by sending flyers to local churches and posting them on social media platforms. I developed an interview protocol to guide the interviews conducted via Zoom. I used in vivo and axial coding to organize and analyze the data. The participants had an opportunity to review transcripts of their responses to ensure accuracy. I followed all guidelines and regulations put forth by Walden University's IRB.

Chapter 4 includes a description of the study's setting and demographics. I detail the data collection and analysis process and provide evidence of trustworthiness. The results of the study are presented.

## Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and better understand how African American residents living in Stonecrest felt about the hazardous waste site being placed in their community without an opportunity to provide input into the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant permits. Stonecrest, Georgia obtained its charter to become a city in 2017 and has mostly African American residents. In this chapter, I describe the study's setting, demographics, data collection process, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and results, including the themes that emerged from the data analysis.

## Setting

I interviewed eight participants, which was the number when data saturation was achieved, meeting the criteria outlined in Chapter 3. Researchers indicated that saturation is reached when themes become apparent and no new data are revealed (Aguboshim, 2021; Creswell, 2014; Kruth, 2015; Schäfer et al., 2014). I conducted one-on-one semistructured interviews from my home using Zoom. At the time of the interviews, the participants were in their homes or a safe space.

There were no personal or organizational conditions that influenced the participants' perceptions or experiences or that influenced my interpretation of the data. All participants were homeowners in zip codes 30038 and 30058. Participants were provided a consent form with instructions on how to indicate consent and return the form to me in a timely manner. The consent form also included information regarding the

minimal risk involved in the study and the option to withdraw without penalty at any time.

# **Demographics**

All eight homeowners were African American females and males residing in the study area who met the inclusion criteria for participation. I assigned each participant an alphanumeric code for privacy and confidentiality: HO, which represented the homeowner; first and last initial; and a number indicating the order of the interview.

Table 1 reflects the participants' demographics, including their alphanumeric code, zip code, and gender.

Table 1

Case Study Participant Demographics

Participant	Zip code	Gender
HOBM1	30058	Female
HOAB2	30038	Male
НОТВ3	30058	Female
HOAH4	30038	Female
HOTT5	30038	Female
HODT6	30058	Female
HOAC7	30058	Male
HOAF8	30038	Female

Each interview was transcribed into Word using the recorded transcription feature in Zoom and by consulting handwritten notes.

#### **Data Collection**

The data collection process began after I obtained approval from Walden University's IRB. Data were collected between February 2023 and March 2023. The interviews were conducted twice a week using the Zoom recording feature, audio only. I

emailed a request to churches in zip codes 30038 and 30058 and posted the recruitment flyer on the social media sites Facebook and NextDoor.

I used purposeful and snowball sampling to recruit participants who met the criteria and volunteered to be interviewed. Once a participant expressed interest, a consent form was sent to their email address for review and consent. I asked potential participants to reply to my email by stating "I consent." I acknowledged receiving their consent email and requested a date and time for the interview. I maintained a record of who consented and their availability for the interviews.

I interviewed each participant once for 15 to 45 minutes, asking the same questions in the same order to ensure the consistency of the process. I began the interview by reminding the participant of the purpose of the study, the interview process, and the elements of the consent form. I took notes of my thoughts and feelings to curtail any potential biases. The audio recording of each interview was done through Zoom, with all settings to "cameras off" to maintain confidentiality. Each interview was transcribed using Zoom's recorded transcript feature.

I interviewed eight homeowners from zip codes 30038 and 30058. Researchers have affirmed that sample size is determined when saturation is met (Aguboshim, 2021; Creswell, 2014; Kruth, 2015; Schäfer et al., 2014). A sample size between four and 10 for case studies was recommended by Creswell (2007); however, in the current qualitative case study, data saturation was met with eight participants. There were no unusual circumstances encountered in data collection.

I thanked the participants after each interview and expressed my appreciation for their willingness to take part. I informed the participants that I would email a copy of the transcript for their review within 7 days, and asked them to reply with any edits. I asked the participants if there was anything they would like to add or share about their experience with the GEPD permitting process in general or anything specific regarding the way community members were given an opportunity to participate or voice concerns before the permit was granted. I also asked the participants if they knew anyone else who might be interested in sharing their experience with GEPD's effort to communicate with the Stonecrest community about the permitting of the 2020 hazardous waste site.

I informed the participants they could provide potential participants with a copy of the flyer or my contact information. I also notified the participants that a summary of my findings would be shared with them once the study was completed. The interviews were recorded and transcribed verbatim using the Zoom transcription feature. The recordings were saved on a password-protected file on my personal computer. I adhered to all of the data collection processes outlined in Chapter 3, including waiting 7 days for a response from the participants after they received their transcripts. There were no additions to the transcripts by any participants during the allotted time.

### **Data Analysis**

In this qualitative case study, I sought to better understand the experiences and perceptions of African American homeowners residing the Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020 concerning a hazardous waste site being placed in their community. I interviewed each participant, asking the same questions in identical order. There were 27 pages of

transcripts from the interviews. I began the data analysis by developing a code and analysis worksheet that included the participant's alphanumeric code, first-cycle coding, in vivo codes, and a priori codes. These were "experience," "perception," "impact," "outreach," "awareness," "input," "satisfied," "feel," and "recommendation," which were established from the study's framework. More codes were added during the inductive data analysis process. I used axial coding in the second-cycle coding to group the codes and create categories.

I used in vivo codes to analyze the data from the interviews. I read the interview transcripts several times, highlighting responses and phases. I analyzed each response to the interview questions in the transcripts and hand coded without software to a data analysis worksheet, which included key concepts connected to the research question. The first cycle produced 54 codes, including some a priori codes. I used axial coding to explore the initial coding to develop the categories. The codes with similar meanings were combined to create five categories. Table 2 displays examples of the in vivo coding, including the code, participant, and excerpts from the data to demonstrate its origin.

**Table 2**Examples of In Vivo Codes

Code	Participant	Excerpt	
Experience	HOAH 4	Group meetings. I was with a group of citizens here in the area. They did not approve of them having the site here. We went to several meetings to fight against them.	
Perception	НОТВ 3	Minimum communication. The city hopes people won't ask questions. They take advantage of people that are not looking for the information; go ahead.	
Timely	НОТТ 5	The way it's ran. History of race and power structure in our state. If there is an African American and a Black in those conversation [sic], it's always done as it means to say we checked with all.	
Impact	HOAF 8	Lack of knowledge; where there is no knowledge, it's hurtful, [and the] community falls apart.	
Outreach	НОВМ 1	I think it can do with the time that most residents are available to go to those types of meetings. You know, how convenient that [sic] are, you know, for people who work during the day and maybe even the location of where they have [sic] having them. Maybe not have [sic]enough signage in the actual subdivision where people live.	
	HOAB 2	Churches. Church affiliation congregation.	
Aware	HOBM 1	I was never made aware, and I don't remember ever seeing any signage abothat.	
	HOAB 2	Made aware through my church.	
	НОТВ 3	Heard about the site through the news.	
	HOTT 5	I had no knowledge of it.	
Input	HODT 6	None.	
	HOAC 7	I signed the petition to stop the site.	
	НОАН 4	We provided quite a bit of input. We went to the board meetings as a group. We would get up and speak our opinion on how we felt about it, and that's how we communicate to try to get it stopped.	
Stonecrest impact	HOAF 8	Walking trails, schools, taxes, libraries, air.	
	НОТВ 3	Property value.	
	HODT 6	Clean air, water, visual, and live next to it.	
	HOBM 1	Health, environment, water system.	
	HOAB 2	Water.	
	НОАН 4	Air quality property value. When people are looking for somewhere to live, they want a clean area, so we [sic]will bring our property value down, and that's not good.	
	НОТТ 5	Dissemination [of] the information in a timely manner. African American communities are out of the loop, and it comes across as if we do not care, no [sic] aware, or they are not interested.	

After completing the first-cycle in vivo coding, I examined the initial codes and established categories through axial coding. Similar codes were grouped; codes with the same meaning were combined, which continued until all codes were in groups based on similarities. The groups became categories, with some named after a code the category contained. There were five categories from which two themes emerged: lack of timely notification and lack of communication. Table 3 shows the codes, categories from code groupings, and final themes. The categories and themes that emerged during the analysis were related to the research question.

Table 3

Codes, Categories, and Themes

Code	Category	Theme
No input	Notification	Lack of timely notification
Meetings		•
Petition		
Perception		
Slow response		
Too late		
Timely		
No opportunity		
Notices		
Input		
Time restraint		
Recommendation	Recommendations	
Board meeting		
Education		
Local newspaper		
Citizen group		
Advocate		
Awareness	Awareness	Lack of communication
Perception	11 wareness	Lack of communication
Experience		
Petition		
Lack of communication		
No announcement		
Awareness		
Too vague		
No voice		
No information		
Lack of knowledge		
Last to know		
Lack of contact		
Out of the loop		
Unclear		
Understandable		
Outreach		
Feel	Feelings	
Don't care	Č	
Priority		
Disturbed		
Ulterior motive		
Impact		
Attracts the wrong businesses		
Drive the right businesses away		
Property value		
Race		
Stereotype		
Negatively		
Satisfied		
Unsatisfied		
Health	Health	
Safety		
Water supply		
Water disposal		
Overcrowding		
Air quality		
Transportation		

Thematic analysis was used to develop the themes from the categories and to connect themes to the research question. The participants were asked to describe their perceptions of the GEPD. Each participant responded that the GEPD did not make them aware of the hazardous waste site coming to their community, and that they only learned about it when a church member made it known and shared a petition to be signed to stop the process through court intervention. Participant HOAH 4 was active in the community and learned of the site from a grass roots organization developed to fight the site development. Other participants learned from the news and social media after the fact and were unfamiliar with any announcement or signage notifying them of the hazardous waste site planned for their community.

All participants indicated that lack of communication had been their experience, and communication was critical to building a relationship with African American communities. Participants noted that increased awareness improves community engagement. They also highlighted that achieving satisfaction promotes a feeling of being valued. All participants stated that the lack of timely notification and communication had been their experiences and perceptions of GEPD permitting. There were no discrepant cases that factored into the analysis for this study.

#### **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

Morgan and Ravitch (2018) found that credibility builds confidence in a study's findings. I used transcript review to verify the participants' responses to the interview questions. I emailed a copy of the transcripts to the participants for their review for feedback to ensure that what was recorded was what they intended to say and to provide

them with an opportunity to make corrections. There were no amendments to the transcripts. I did not ask leading questions during the interviews, and I made notes that allowed me to self-reflect. Credibility was also established because all participants lived and owned a home in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020.

Transferability occurs when the findings of a study can be applied to other contexts (Morgan & Ravitch, 2018). Transferability was strengthened as I detailed the study's setting, sample population, sample size, eligibility criteria, sampling strategy, demographics, and interview procedures and provided the participants with a consent form with sample interview questions. The participants varied in age and lived in the area studied for more than 3 years. The findings may be relevant to readers and researchers because of the detailed description of the participants' experiences, perceptions, perspectives, and ideas. Transferring the study's findings to other contexts or equivalent scenarios could be determined by readers or scholars in the future.

Dependability occurs when there is consistency, so researchers can duplicate the findings using like participants (Morgan & Ravitch, 2018). The Zoom format for interviewing allowed me to collect personalized and contextual data. I asked open-ended questions focused on the topic of study. The interview questions were asked in the same sequence using the interview protocol to ensure consistency and reduce irrelevant conversations. The findings were supported by the data as indicated throughout the data analysis. I kept notes to document personal beliefs, thoughts, and theories, as suggested by Creswell (2014) and Yin (2018).

According to Morgan and Ravitch (2018), confirmability is when the participants determine the findings of the study and not the researcher. I used triangulation to ensure confirmability. The notes and documentation trail maintained the originality of the data in the study. Notes allowed me to identify and dismiss any personal biases, and using the documentation as an audit trail helped me verify data collection and analysis methods. A nonparticipant was used as a peer debriefer to help me discover any biases or assumptions. To ensure confirmability, the participants' responses were presented verbatim in table format throughout the data analysis process.

#### **Results**

I investigated the experiences and perceptions of African American homeowners in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020 and their recommendations that could help the GEPD improve their notification policies for environmental action. A qualitative case study approach was used with semistructured interviews. The data collected answered the research question: What are the perceptions, experiences, and recommendations of African American homeowners living in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020 concerning how GEPD addresses community concerns in the permitting decision-making process before hazardous waste site permits are issued? Two themes emerged from the interview data and field notes: lack of timely notification and lack of communication

There were two sections of the interview protocol that included 10 questions. The first section contained four questions to help answer the part of the research question regarding the GEPD permitting notification process. The second section contained interview questions to help answer the part of the research question pertaining to the

perceptions and experiences with the GEPD's efforts to include African Americans living in Stonecrest in the permitting process.

## Theme 1: Lack of Timely Notification

The lack of timely notification surfaced as the first theme from the data collected, using questions from the first section of the interview protocol. All participants indicated they were unaware of any form of notification from GEPD. Participants shared they become aware of environmental action after the fact or when approached by a community member to sign petitions to stop the activity. Participants also stated they became aware when the action had already begun, such as when trees were cleared to build a facility. Some participants confirmed that they had no way to know if it was too late to provide input once the action had begun. The participants indicated that timely notification might build a better relationship with the African American community. They also expressed that the lack of timely notification regarding environmental actions impacts the air, water, and even walking trails in African American communities. Others mentioned that the lack of notification did not provide them an opportunity for input as to whether they wanted certain community facilities. Some indicated that the lack of notification regarding what goes on in their community impacts property value and schools, and that they should be notified at the beginning of an environmental project for input. A few stated that the lack of timely notification demonstrated that African Americans were not valued and believed race was a factor. Several participants thought that local politicians could do a better job of keeping the community informed.

Knowing and understanding a community is essential in building relationships with African American homeowners. All participants indicated their experience with the state had been through last-minute involvement to stop environmental action after the process had already begun or been completed with no official awareness or opportunity to engage. Participant HOAH 4 became aware of the hazardous waste site being built in their community from a citizen group when they attended several meetings to voice their opinion to stop the construction from moving forward: "We went to several meetings to fight against them." HOAB 2 stated that their experience was a result of HOAH 4 sharing what they had learned from the citizen group with their church membership. This occurred when they "had some documentation for us to sign" (a petition) to stop the process. HOAB 2 also voiced their experience involved signing a petition to stop the building of a gas station down the street from their home: "I didn't know about it until I went to my mailbox. I saw this letter statement right—the community need to meet to talk about this gas station that was about to be put up."

HOAC 7 stated they had two experiences when they became aware through their church and community newspaper of facilities being put in their area: a hazardous waste site and a wood chipping facility. They signed petitions to stop the construction of the hazardous waste site that circulated in their church and attended several meetings to stop the wood chipping facility. HOTT 5's experience was that they did not view any signs or notices:

I didn't see any signage. Any time there's a new development or anything of that nature, be [it] a commercial, or in this case, environmental, I may see the

beginning of, like, when they're about to start a project. Like in driving passing [sic], you may notice that the area has been cleared, or you may see construction vehicles or workers. But I've never been made or know about meetings or petitions.

HODT 6's experience with the process resulted in the belief the African American community had been deceived: "We've actually been misled because sometimes you don't know about items that are going on until it's actually 100% constructed." HODT 6 stated, "No. There was no petition."

Not receiving timely notification on environmental actions causes communities to be disenfranchised and skeptical of the government's motives. There was a disconnect between GEPD and the African American community in the study area. The participants felt the only time they received any type of attention was during the voting cycle when politicians were seeking their support. The participants indicated that the lack of timely notification was their main concern when it came to environmental issues. The African American community members felt frightened that something hazardous would be built near their homes without their knowledge and it would be too late to do something about it.

#### Theme 2: Lack of Communication

The lack of communication was the second theme. Six interview questions addressed African Americans' experiences and perceptions of the GEPD's efforts to be inclusive in their permitting process. All the participants' perceptions were similar in that they were unaware of any formal announcement process. HOTB 3 expressed that it was

just "go ahead" and make the decision to begin and complete the project: "There are no questions or discussions. . . . I heard about the hazardous site coming to [the] community through the news, and most of [the] time when hearing of the project, it is already too late." HOAB 2 stated the lack of communication and response from the state was the wrong process. "We are the last to know . . . there is no documentation indicating the building is not coming; no outcome knowledge after the courts intervened." HOTB 3 also indicated that the brokenness of the political system, scandals, and the lack of local government's willingness to communicate with the community were factors.

To build trust, it is imperative to create a space where diverse voices from the African American community are heard, respected, and valued. Many participants stated they thought it was too late to provide input. When African Americans are allowed to provide input and make decisions regarding their community, whether through a community organization or attending a community meeting, they feel a sense of belonging and self-worth. HOBM 1 noted, "Well, I'm not aware that they do ask for input because I don't remember ever getting anything in the mail or anything like that regarding that subject." When asked if they were allowed to provide input, HOBM 1 stated: "No. I think it was probably too late by then." HOAB 2 noted, "They don't go about it the right way." When asked about their perception of GEPD community engagement and the environmental decision-making process, they explained, "We are always the last to know . . . most of the time it is a lack of communication . . . people find out the last minute, and when they get to find [out], it is when it's almost approved to be done." HOAB 2 further stated, "[They] almost treat us like second class when it comes to

these things." This participant believed the GEPD was "sneaky" and noted: "They just go ahead and do it hoping we would never find out. . . . I think it is because they just don't care . . . don't have our best interest at heart . . . we are treated completely different."

Reaction from the community was expected, but the problem was not solved.

HOAB 2 reflected, "Everything seems to get quiet, and then in another 3 or 4 months,
you see the same thing repeat itself, and we start doing the same thing all over again."

HOTB 3 communicated their perception of the GEPD process:

Very minimal communication, minimal interaction, minimal engagement whatsoever. I feel like the city really does things hoping that people won't ask questions and does [sic]. And they don't really publicize a lot of things that they do, so when things are done, it's either already in progress. Also, it's not something that you can really fight, and I think that they really take advantage of people who are not looking for information readily. I didn't have any input at all about it. It was that most of the time, when you hear about something that's already in it, it's already done. It's a done deal.

Decision makers should be more responsive to the communities they serve. HOAH 4 provided their perspective:

I don't think they—I don't think they look into it as much as they should, and I don't think they respond as quickly they should. . . . I just think people that are in the position to do something about it, [they] need to step up quickly to try to solve the problem.

Communication engagement involves actively collaborating with the community regarding projects and activities that affect them. This is crucial in building relationships and promoting inclusivity. HOTT 5 pointed out: "They do not involve the community. They are not transparent with the community. After they make their decision, and at that point, it's so far gone." HOAC 7 believed that minority communities' outreach was lacking: "It seems like, in the primary minority communities, it seems like the outreach isn't as strong as it would be on the north side of town." HOTT 5 noted,

If an African American is involved in the planning process, then that means it is okay to move forward as if one person speaks for all. I have never seen any signage regarding any announcement of environmental participation opportunities. I have never been made aware of any meetings or petitions or anything of that nature.

Communicating with the community should be understandable. HOAF 8 noted,

I think that it can be a little clearer and more understandable. I see a sign going

up, [which] does not give me a real indication of what they're trying to do. So, I

think it needs to be a little less vague when they're putting these signs up.

HOAH 4 became involved after hearing about the site coming to her community through a grassroots movement developed just to address the issue: "I was made aware of the hazardous waste site from one other citizen by phone call. . . . I think they should reach out to the community that they are planning to do this."

The African American community members were left in the dark when it came to communication from the GEPD as it related to their plans for environmental actions.

Participants were left feeling disturbed and confused as to what their rights were, how to move forward, or if they had any recourse. The participants also felt frustrated when communication broke down and displayed a sense of disconnection and uncertainty. The African American community members were left wondering if it was their fault for the lack of communication or if it was a systemic barrier.

There were no discrepant cases that factored into the analysis for this study. The participants' responses were consistent, and no conflicts emerged. No responses needed clarification.

### **Summary**

The research question was designed to guide this study to help understand the experiences and perceptions of the GEPD permitting process. Theme 1 and 2 answered the research question regarding the perceptions and experiences the community had with the GEPD permitting process. Chapter 4 included the setting, demographics, and data collection. I provided the data analysis process, including how data were coded and categorized and themes generated. I presented the results of the data obtained from the eight participants' real-life experiences, perceptions, feelings, and thoughts. In Chapter 5, I provide an interpretation of the findings, discuss the limitations of the study, make recommendations for future research, and note any implications of the study.

## Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and better understand how African American residents living in Stonecrest felt about the hazardous waste site being placed in their community without an opportunity to provide input into the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant permits. Data were collected from one-on-one semistructured interviews through Zoom calls with homeowners who resided in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020. Through this current case study, I gained a thorough understanding of the homeowners' experiences and perceptions of the GEPD's notification process for issuing permits with no input from the African American community. Two themes emerged from the data analysis process: lack of timely notification and lack of communication.

In Chapter 5, I share the findings of this study and demonstrate how the results provide a better understanding of African Americans' experiences and perceptions with the GEPD's efforts to notify and communicate with the community. This understanding may help homeowners build a better relationship with the GEPD and provide decision makers with information that can enhance the notification process in African American communities. In this chapter, I compare the research findings with the current literature and social construction theory. The study's implications, limitations, and recommendations are also discussed.

### **Interpretation of the Findings**

The data collection process began after I received approval from Walden

University's IRB. One-on-one semistructured interviews, the literature review, and social

construction theory drove the interpretation of the findings in this current qualitative case study. The case study had one research question: What are the perceptions, experiences, and recommendations of African American homeowners living in Stonecrest between 2017 and 2020 concerning how GEPD addresses community concerns in the decision-making process before hazardous waste site permits are issued? I asked eight African American homeowners 10 open-ended interview questions regarding their experiences and perceptions of the GEPD notification process and what recommendations, if any, they had for policy change. Two themes emerged from the participants' responses to the questions in the semistructured interviews.

The findings support social construction as a theory of knowledge that enables community members to participate and provide input into the permitting process to help make their community better. Social construction theory posits that knowledge comes from social interactions and language use (Schneider & Ingram, 2019). Within social construction, awareness is established through interactions and when discussions are understood (Schneider & Ingram, 2019; Vygotsky, 1978). The findings of the current study support the social construction theory, which argues that communications and interactions progress over time and are the most powerful way to develop thoughts and beliefs that become socially constructed (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). I applied social construction theory to the perceptions of the participants to stress African American community members' beliefs and thoughts regarding the GEPD process and outreach. I also applied the theory to their experiences because of its relevance to participating in society. Findings in this study provided information regarding the participants'

perceptions and experiences that could ensure better communication between the African American communities and the GEPD.

## **Theme 1: Lack of Timely Notification**

All-inclusive notification policies promote community engagement, encourage communications, increase feelings of self-worth, and promote satisfaction (Chan et al., 2022). The lack of timely notification in the African American community decreases trust in the government's motives and decisions (Clark, 2018). Timely notification to the African American community is a critical for building a strong relationship. States can empower African American communities to have their voices heard and engage in shaping their local and state environments. Without engaging, African Americans may miss opportunities to provide important input that impacts their well-being (He & Ma, 2021). The eight participants in the current study indicated they were not notified of any environmental actions until after the project had begun, was completed, or during a petition process.

The participants stated they were not aware of any environmental actions in their community and did not realize that input could be offered. Participants also stated that notification was not a formal process. They became aware when people noticed changes and the community newspaper reported it. Environmental justice is a significant concern because it relates to environmental issues; all communities, including African American communities, should have access to information, opportunities, and resources for environmental action (Carnahan et al., 2020). Receiving information in a timely manner

enables effective community contribution of viewpoints that might offer better solutions (Ianniello et al., 2019).

One participant was concerned that the GEPD was slow to respond regarding the outcome of the hazardous waste site after it was halted by court proceedings. The participant wondered whether the project would begin again once things died down and the community moved on to other challenges. In other words, there was no notice to the community that the project was no longer going forward other than the court's intervention. African American communities have been marginalized historically and have faced disproportionate hazardous waste exposure with limited access to environmental resources and the decision-making process, which has led to environmental inequalities and various health issues (Alvarez & Evans, 2021; Brazil, 2022).

## **Theme 2: Lack of Communication**

The findings of this study demonstrate that the lack of communication resulted in African Americans feeling they were not represented fairly and their perspectives and input were not considered. Having no representation causes disparities in all areas of African Americans' lives, including environmental impacts, education, health, and housing (Harrison et al., 2020). Current participants felt that local officials should notify their constituents when the state proposes environmental actions in their community. Community members can then be prepared to attend the scoping meetings to voice their thoughts and concerns and provide solutions to the proposed project. Participants reported that not having information due to the lack of communication sends a message

that the community is not interested or does not care about what is going on in their neighborhoods. However, the community's lack of input was not because they did not care; the information had not been communicated to them.

Some participants expressed that they believed the reason for the lack of communication was because of their race and the part of town in which they reside. One participant indicated that the GEPD did not care about the African American community. It was a "go ahead and proceed" practice engrained in policymaking. Signage was vague and placed in obscure locations where drivers must get out of their cars to view it at traffic lights (e.g., on utility poles). One participant was contacted by an acquaintance who informed them that a grassroots organization was being established to address the hazardous waste site. This initiated a petition, which introduced the concern to churches in the communities. Several participants acknowledged that they received communication through church members regarding environmental actions and asked to put their signatures on the petition to stop the action.

Lack of communication can be a missed opportunity for the GEPD and the African American community to collaborate and build partnerships and initiatives that benefit not only one group. The situation becomes challenging when community members have no way to voice their concerns, hold the GEPD responsible, and remedy grievances. The lack of communication could result in systemic injustices.

#### **Limitations of the Study**

Saturation was determined after interviewing eight homeowners, which produced rich data to understand the participants' perceptions and experiences with the GEPD. The

study focused on African American homeowners in a city that is 94% African American. There were no renters included in the study, and only English speakers from two zip codes were included. To eliminate bias, I took notes throughout the data collection and analysis process. Taking notes helped me to focus on data collection and interpretation to mitigate researcher bias.

#### Recommendations

The participants reported that communication and timely notification are critical approaches that will contribute to enhancing the GEPD's decision-making process. The participants expressed the need for an all-inclusive process and the importance of communicating with the African American community to build relationships and trust. Participants also stressed that timely notification is crucial to the communities to ensure they are aware of environmental action because it enables responsiveness, fosters collaboration, improves satisfaction, and builds trust.

I recommend a follow-up study to include a sample of other marginalized groups in various counties in the state. A different study sample could result in additional findings to improve understanding of other counties' experiences and perceptions of GEPD's decision-making permit process. Another recommendation is to study the GEPD's perspectives regarding their decision-making process. Finally, a study could be conducted concerning why communities are not engaged and, if they are, which communities are involved in this process.

## **Implications**

This study may contribute to positive social change by providing the GEPD with the experiences and perceptions of the African American communities they serve. The results of this study may prompt decision makers to examine their policies and practices to determine whether they are inclusive as they relate to environmental actions in all communities. The need to address disparities is to ensure that all community members have equal access to timely communication and inclusive notification systems. This study's findings could help build trust in the GEPD and encourage transparency and inclusivity in communication practices that might help overcome historical mistrust and build a better relationship based on understanding and respect. This may increase community satisfaction, leading to a better appreciation of citizenship, pride, and an attitude that demonstrates the community is clean and safe.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and better understand how African American residents living in Stonecrest felt about the hazardous waste site being placed in their community without an opportunity to provide input into the GEPD decision-making process before a decision is made to grant permits. African American environmental challenges are molded by a history of environmental injustice, socioeconomic disparities, limited access to information, and limited access to decision making (Aitamurto & Chen, 2017; Bullard, 2019; Bullard et al., 2008; Clayton et al., 2019). Participants' perceptions in the current study indicated a deep-rooted understanding of environmental, social, and economic issues. African Americans

advocate for equality in the distribution of environmental benefits and believe environmental justice is a civil rights issue.

Eight homeowners from Stonecrest were recruited using purposive and snowball sampling. Data were collected from semistructured interviews conducted via Zoom. The participants reported a lack of communication and lack of timely notification from the GEPD regarding environmental actions that require a permit. The results of this study demonstrate that the lack of communication and the lack of timely notification have a significant impact on the African American community and may inform GEPD decision makers that African Americans have a need to know and a voice that needs an ear.

#### References

- Abou-Zeid, M., & Fujii, S. (2016). Travel satisfaction effects of changes in public transport. *Transportation*, 43(2), 301–314. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-015-9576-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-015-9576-3</a>
- Aguboshim, F. C. (2021). Adequacy of sample size in a qualitative case study and the dilemma of data saturation: A narrative review. *World Journal of Advanced Research and Reviews*, 10(3), 180–187. https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2021.10.3.0277
- Agyeman, J., Schlosberg, D., Craven, L., & Matthews, C. (2016). Trends and directions in environmental justice: From inequity to everyday life, community, and just Sustainabilities. *Annual Review of Environmental and Resources*, 41(1), 321–40. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-090052">https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-090052</a>
- Ahmed, A. (2021, May 3). Robert Bullard isn't done yet. *Texas Observer*. https://www.texasobserver.org/robert-bullard-isnt-done-yet/
- Aitamurto, T., & Chen, K. (2017). The value of crowdsourcing in public policymaking:

  <u>Epistemic</u>, democratic and economic value. *The Theory and Practice of Legislation*, 5(1), 55–72. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/20508840.2017.1282665">https://doi.org/10.1080/20508840.2017.1282665</a>
- Alexander, W. L., Wells, E. C., Lincoln, M., Davis, B. Y., & Little, P. C. (2021).

  Environmental justice ethnography in the classroom: Teaching activism, inspiring involvement. *Human Organization*, 80(1), 37–48. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17730/1938-3525-80.1.37">https://doi.org/10.17730/1938-3525-80.1.37</a>
- Alghizzawi, M., Habes, M., Salloum, S. A., Ghani, M. A., Mhamdi, C., & Shaalan, K.

- (2019). The effect of social media usage on students' e-learning acceptance in higher education: A case study from the United Arab Emirates. *International Journal of Information Technology and Language Studies*, *3*(3), 13–26.
- Alton, A., & Waldman, S. (2020, June 5). *Trump's NEPA rollback could fall hardest on minorities*. E&E News.

https://www.eenews.net/climatewire/stories/1063321851/print

- Alvarez, C. H., & Evans, C. R. (2021). Intersectional environmental justice and population health inequalities: A novel approach. *Social Science & Medicine*, 269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113559
- Anderson, S. E., DeLeo, R. A., & Taylor, K. (2020). Policy entrepreneurs, legislators, and agenda setting: Information and influence. *Policy Studies Journal*, 48(3), 587–611. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12331
- Andrejuk, K. (2020). Online qualitative research in immigrant communities:

  Opportunities and challenges during the pandemic. *ASK: Research & Methods*,

  29(1), 55–73. <a href="https://doi.org/10.18061/ask.v29i1.0004">https://doi.org/10.18061/ask.v29i1.0004</a>
- Andrews, J. (2019). [Review of the book *Research methods in the social sciences*, by C. Frankfort-Nachmias, D. Nachimas, & J. De Waard]. *Journal of Population Ageing*, 12(2), 195-198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12062-017-9191-5
- Anyebe, A. A. (2018). An overview of approaches to the study of public policy.

  \*International Journal of Political Science, 4(1), 1–17

  https://doi.org/10.20431/2454-9452.0401002
- Apostol, A. C., & Netedu, A. (2020). University students during pandemic. A case study

- on a faculty of philosophy and social-political science undergraduates. *Scientific Annals of the "Al. I. Cuza" University, Iasi. Sociology & Social Work/Analele Stiintifice Ale Universitatii "Al. I. Cuza" Iasi Sociologie Si Asistenta Sociala,*13(1), 125–37. https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=903622
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596">https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596</a>
- Ard, K. (2016). By all measures: An examination of the relationship between segregation and health risks from air pollution. *Population & Environment*, *38*(1), 1–20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-015-0251-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-015-0251-6</a>
- Arnon, D. (2018). The enduring influence of religion on senators' legislative behavior.

  The Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, 57(3), 567.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12535">https://doi.org/10.1111/jssr.12535</a>
- Atencio, M., James-Tohe, H., Sage, S., Tsosie, D. J., Beasley, A., Grant, S., & Seamster, T. (2022). Federal\_statutes and environmental justice in the Navajo Nation: The case of fracking in the greater Chaco region. *American Journal of Public Health*, 112(1), 116–123. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2021.306562
- Bali, A., Capano, G., & Ramesh, M. (2019). Anticipating and designing for policy effectiveness. *Policy and Society*, *38*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14494035.2019.1579502
- Banzhaf, S., Ma, L., & Timmins, C. (2019). Environmental justice: The economics of

- race, place, and pollution. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *33*(1), 185–208. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.33.1.185
- Barigozzi, F., Cremer, H., & Roeder, K. (2020). Having it all, for all: Child-care subsidies and income distribution reconciled. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 176, 188-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2020.05.007
- Barrie, T. M. (2020, December 30). Order granting CHASE's motion to intervene (Civil Action File No. 20-cv-5610-10). Southern Environmental Law Center.

  <a href="https://tinyurl.com/3hm5px49">https://tinyurl.com/3hm5px49</a>
- Been, V. (1995, Fall). Analyzing evident of environmental justice. *Journal of Land Use*& Environmental Law, 11(1), 1–36.
- Bell, E. (2020). The politics of designing tuition-free college: How socially constructed target populations influence policy support. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 91(6), 888–926. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2019.1706015
- Bell, E. (2021). Deserving to whom? Investigating heterogeneity in the impact of social construction of target populations on support for affirmative action. *Polices Studies Journal*, 49(1), 268–299. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12347">https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12347</a>
- Berger, P. L., & Luckmann, T. (1966). The social construction of reality: A treatise in the sociology of knowledge. Penguin Books.
- Berke, P., Kates, J., Malecha, M., Masterson, J., Shea, P., & Yu, S. (2021). Using a resilience scorecard to improve local planning for vulnerability to hazards and climate change: An application in two cities. *Cities*, *119*, Article 103408. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2021.103408">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2021.103408</a>

- Bidwell, D. (2016). Thinking through participation in renewable energy decisions. *Nature Energy*, *I*(5), Article 16051. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/nenergy.2016.51">https://doi.org/10.1038/nenergy.2016.51</a>
- Bidwell, D., & Schweizer, P. (2020). Public values and goals for public participation.

  Environment Policy and Governance, 31(4), 257–269.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1913
- Bikomeye, J. C., Namin, S., Anyanwu, C., Rublee, C. S., Ferschinger, J., Leinbach, K., Lindquist, P., Hoppe, A., Hoffman, L., Hegarty, J., Sperber, D., & Beyer, K. M. M. (2021). Resilience and equity in a time of crises: Investing in public urban greenspace is now more essential than ever in the US and beyond. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(16), Article 8420. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168420">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18168420</a>
- Birungi, C., & Colbourn, T. (2019). It's politics, stupid! A political analysis of the HIV/AIDS trust fund in Uganda. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, 18(4), 370–381. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2989/16085906.2019.1689148">https://doi.org/10.2989/16085906.2019.1689148</a>
- Bonson, E., Royo, S., & Ratkai, M. (2017). Facebook practices in western European municipalities: An empirical analysis of activity and citizens' engagement.

  \*\*Administration & Society, 49(3), 320–347.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0095399714544945
- Boushey, G. T., & McGrath, R. J. (2020). Does partisan conflict lead to increased bureaucratic policymaking? Evidence from the American states. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, *30*(3), 432–447. https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muz030

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales.

  \*Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 13(2), 201–216.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Brazil, N. (2022). Environmental inequality in the neighborhood networks of urban mobility in US cities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 119(17), Article e2117776119.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2117776119">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2117776119</a>
- Brown, A. G. M., Hudson, L. B., Chui, K., Metayer, N., Lebron-Torres, N., Seguin, R. A., & Folta, S. C. (2017). Improving heart health among Black/African American women using civic engagement: A pilot study. *BMC Public Health*, *17*(1), 1–13. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3964-2">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3964-2</a>
- Bryson, J. M., Quick, K. S., Slotterback, C. S., & Crosby, B. C. (2013). Designing public participation processes. *Public Administration Review*, 73(1), 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2012.02678.x
- Bullard, R. (2019). Environmental blackmail in minority communities. In Race and the incidence of environmental hazards. In B. Bunyan & P. Mohai (Eds.), *Race and the incidence of environmental hazards* (pp. 82–95). Routledge.
- Bullard, R. D., Mohai, P., Saha, R., & Wright, B. (2008). Toxic wastes and race at twenty: Why race still matters after all of these years. *Environmental Law*, 38, 371–411.
- Bullard, R. D., & Wright, B. (2009). Race, place, and environmental justice after

- Hurricane Katrina: Struggles to reclaim, rebuild, and revitalize New Orleans and the Gulf Coast. Westview Press.
- Cameron, N. O., Muldrow, A. F., & Stefani, W. (2018). The weight of things:

  Understanding African American women's perceptions of health, body image,
  and attractiveness. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(8), 1242–1254.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753588
- Carnahan, A. H., Groshong, L., Stanis, S. A. W., Balasubramanyam, V., & Kutty, A. (2020). Place-making practices for park improvements to support environmental justice in a low-income African American neighborhood. *Journal of Park & Recreation Administration*, 38(3), 93–111. <a href="https://doi.org/10.18666/JPRA-2019-9676">https://doi.org/10.18666/JPRA-2019-9676</a>
- Chan, Y. E., Krishnamurthy, R., Mann, J., & Sabherwal, R. (2022). Public participation in policy making: Evidence from a citizen advisory panel. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 45(6), 1308–1345.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2022.2062398
- Chemnick, J. (2020, July 20). *America is still segregated, and so is pollution*. E&E News. https://www.eenews.net/greenwire/stories/1063581173/search?keyword=segreged
- City of Stonecrest, Georgia, and Citizens for a Healthy and Safe Environment v. Metro Green Recycling Three, LLC, et al. (Superior Court, DeKalb County, Georgia, 2020).
- Clark, J. K. (2018). Designing public participation: Managing problem settings and social

- equity. *Public Administration Review*, 78(3), 362–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12872
- Clayton, D. M., Moore, S. E., & Jones-Eversley, S. D. (2019). The impact of Donald Trump's presidency on the well-being of African Americans. *Journal of Black Studies*, 50(8), 707-730. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934719885627
- Copeland, K. D., & Mamiseishvili, K. (2017). The Arkansas Lottery Scholarship Act: An examination of the policy design process. *Educational Policy*, *31*(1), 108–136. https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904815586854
- Cox, S., Drew, S., Guillemin, M., Howell, C., Warr, D., & Waycott, J. (2014). *Guidelines* for ethical visual research methods. Visual Research Collaboratory.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (2nd ed.). SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). SAGE.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Báez, J. C. (2020). 30 essential skills for the qualitative researcher.

  SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches.* SAGE Publications.
- Crow, D. A., Albright, E. A., & Koebele, E. (2017). Evaluating informational inputs in rulemaking processes: A cross-case analysis. *Administration & Society*, 49(9),

- 1318–1345. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399715581040
- Crow, K., Galande, A. S., Chylinski, M., & Mathmann, F. (2021). Power and the Tweet:

  How viral messaging conveys political advantage. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 40(4), 505–520. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743915621999036
- Currie, J., Lucas, D., Michael, G., & Walker, R. (2015). Environmental health risks and housing values: Evidence from 1,600 toxic plant openings and closings. *American Economic Review*, 105(2), 678–709. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20121656
- Czech, B., Krausman, P. R., & Borkhataria, R. (1998). Social construction, political power, and the allocation of benefits to endangered species. *Conservation Biology*, *12*(5), 1103–1112. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1998.97253.x">https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1998.97253.x</a>
- Daniels, B., Follett, A. P., & Salzman, J. (2021). Reconsidering NEPA. *Indiana Law Journal*, 96(3), 865–910. https://www.repository.law.indiana.edu/ilj/vol96/iss3/5/
- De'Arman, K. J. (2020). Is public participation public inclusion? The role of comments in US Forest Service decision-making. *Environmental Management*, 66(1), 91–104. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-020-01278-5">https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-020-01278-5</a>
- DeBray, E. H. (2021). The politics of fair and affordable housing in metropolitan Atlanta: Challenges for educational opportunity. *Berkeley Review of Education*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.5070/B810253852
- Deimel, D., Hoskins, B., & Abs, H. J. (2020). How do schools affect inequalities in political participation: Compensation of social disadvantage or provision of differential access? *Educational Psychology*, 40(2), 146–166.
- DeMello, M. (2021). Animals and society: An introduction to human-animal studies (2nd

- ed.). Columbia University Press. https://doi.org/10.7312/deme19484-005
- Determination of Adverse Effect on Quality of Environment. Official Code of Georgia

  Annotated § 12-16-4 (1982 & rev. 2019).

https://advance.lexis.com/container?config=00JAAzZDgzNzU2ZC05MDA0LTR
mMDItYjkzMS0xOGY3MjE3OWNlODIKAFBvZENhdGFsb2fcIFfJnJ2IC8XZi1
AYM4Ne&crid=8e193ccd-edaa-463e-99f7-5eb656d5e495&prid=d1ef0e4a-f560-4a3f-bca1-09d66269998b

- Do, D. P., Frank, R., & Iceland, J. (2017). Black-white metropolitan segregation and self-related health: Investigating the role of neighborhood poverty. *Social Science and Medicine*, 187, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.06.010
- Dombey, M. (2019). Environmental racism: How governments are systematically poisoning Indigenous communities & the U.N.'S role. *University of Miami International and Comparative Law Review*, 27(1), 131154.
- Donley, N., Bullard, R. D., Economos, J., Figueroa, I., Lee, J., Liebman, A. K., Martinez, D. N., & Shafiei, F. (2022). Pesticides and environmental injustice in the USA:

  Root causes, current regulatory reinforcement and a path forward. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13057-4
- Döringer, S. (2021). 'The problem-centred expert interview'. Combining qualitative interviewing approaches for investigating implicit expert knowledge.

  \*International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 24(3), 265–278.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1766777
- Drew, R. B. (2013). Constructing homeownership policy: Social constructions and the

- design of the low-income homeownership policy objective. *Housing Studies*, 28(4), 616–631. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2013.760030
- Du, Y., Wang, X., Brombal, D., Moriggi, A., Sharpley, A., & Pang, S. (2018). Changes in environmental awareness and its connection to local environmental management in water conservation zones: The case of Beijing, China.
  Sustainability, 10(6), 1-24, Article 2087. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10062087
- Duncheon, J. C. (2020). What students do early college high schools serve? Unpacking social constructions of the target population. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 28(173), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.28.4706
- Dyer, W. G., Jr., & Wilkins, A. L. (1991). Better stories, not better constructs, to generate better theory: A rejoinder to Eisenhardt. *Academy of Management Review*, *16*(3), 613–619. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1991.4279492">https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1991.4279492</a>
- Edelman, M. (1988). Constructing the political spectacle. University of Chicago Press.
- Edwards, R., & Holland, J. (2013). What is qualitative interviewing? Bloomsbury Academic. https://doi.org/10.5040/9781472545244
- Ekúndayò, O., Kosoko-Lasaki, O., Smith, J. M., Hayashi, G. I., Sanders, R., Issaka, A., & Stone, J. R. (2020). Neighborhood characteristics and effects on physical activity in an urban minority community—application of health belief model to findings from Creighton University Center for Promoting Health and Health Equity (CPHHE-REACH) initiative. *International Journal of Health Promotion Education*, 58(4), 199–222. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14635240.2020.1726200">https://doi.org/10.1080/14635240.2020.1726200</a>
- Ellis, C., & Faricy, C. (2020). Race, "Deservingness," and social spending attitudes: The

- role of policy delivery mechanism. *Political Behavior*, 42(3), 819–843. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-018-09521-w
- Environmental Protection Agency. (2021, September 1). What is the National Environmental Policy Act? <a href="https://www.epa.gov/nepa/what-national-environmental-policy-act">https://www.epa.gov/nepa/what-national-environmental-policy-act</a>
- Environmental Protection Agency. (2022, February 17). *Public participation guide: Introduction to public participation*. <a href="https://www.epa.gov/international-cooperation/public-participation-guide-introduction-public-participation">https://www.epa.gov/international-cooperation/public-participation-guide-introduction-public-participation</a>
- Environmental Protection Division. (2022a). *About us. About EPD*. Georgia Department of Natural Resources. <a href="https://epd.georgia.gov/about-us">https://epd.georgia.gov/about-us</a>
- Environmental Protection Division. (2022b). *Announcements*. Georgia Department of Natural Resources. <a href="https://epd.georgia.gov/public-announcements">https://epd.georgia.gov/public-announcements</a>
- Environmental Protection Division. (2022c). *Enforcement*. Georgia Department of Natural Resources. https://epd.georgia.gov/rules-laws-enforcement/enforcement
- Environmental Protection Division. (2022d). *Proposed rules*. Georgia Department

  Natural Resources. <a href="https://epd.georgia.gov/public-announcements-0/proposed-rules">https://epd.georgia.gov/public-announcements-0/proposed-rules</a>
- Factor, R. (2018). Reducing traffic violations in minority localities: Designing a traffic enforcement program through a public participation process. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *121*, 71–81. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2018.09.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2018.09.005</a>
- Fforde, A. (2019). Yes, but what about the authority of policy analysts? A commentary and discussion of Perl et al., 'Policy-making and truthiness: Can existing models

- cope with politicized evidence and willful ignorance in a post-fact world?' *Policy Sciences*, 52(1), 153–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-018-9344-2
- Flores-Landeros, H., Pells, C., Campos-Martinez, M. S., Fernandez-Bou, A. S., Ortiz-Partida, J. P., & Medellín-Azuara, J. (2021). Community perspectives and environmental justice in California's San Joaquin Valley. *Environmental Justice*, 15(6), 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2021.0005
- Flynn, S. I. (2021). Program and policy design. Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Fonseca, L. K. D. S., Santos, J. V. D. O., Araújo, L. F. D., & Sampaio, A. V. F. C. (2020). Analysis of stigmatization in the context of HIV/AIDS: Concepts of people living with HIV/AIDS. *Gerais: Revista Interinstitucional de Psicologia*, 13(2), 1–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.36298/gerais202013e14757
- Frank, T. (2020, June 30). Disaster loans foster disparities in Black communities. E&E

  News.

  <a href="https://www.eenews.net/climatewire/stories/1063477407/search?keyword=dispari">https://www.eenews.net/climatewire/stories/1063477407/search?keyword=dispari</a>
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., Nachmias, D., & DeWaard, J. (2015). *Research methods in the social sciences* (8th ed.). Worth Publishers.

ties

- Frickel, S., & Elliott, J. R. (2018). Sites unseen: Uncovering hidden hazards in American cities. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Gailmard, S., & Patty, J. W. (2017). Participation, process and policy: The informational value of politicised judicial review. *Journal of Public Policy*, *37*(3), 233–260. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0143814X16000106

- Gaynor, T. S. (2018). Social construction and the criminalization of identity: State-sanctioned oppression and an unethical administration. *Public Integrity*, 20(4), 358–369. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2017.1416881
- Gonzalez, A. (2018). Control, fear and suppression: A political ecology of voice study into resource extraction industry-community engagement in Peru's Loreto region. 

  Extractive Industries and Society-An International Journal, 5(3), 319–329.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2018.03.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2018.03.010</a>
- Gstrein, V. (2018). Ideation, social construction and drug policy: A scoping review.

  \*International Journal of Drug Policy, 51, 75–86.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.10.011
- Gubrium, J. F., Holstein, J. A., Marvasti, A. B., & McKinney, K. D. (2012). *The SAGE handbook of interview research: The complexity of the craft* (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications. <a href="https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781452218403">https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781452218403</a>
- Guetterman, T. C., & Fetters, M. D. (2018). Two methodological approaches to the integration of mixed methods and case study designs: A systematic review. 

  \*American Behavioral Scientist, 62(7), 900–918.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218772641
- Gustria, A., & Fauzi, A. (2019). Analysis of high school students' environmental attitude.

  \*Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1185(1), Article 012079.

  https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1185/1/012079
- Hamilton, J. T. (1995). Testing for environmental racism: Prejudice, profits, political power? *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 14(1), 107–132.

# https://doi.org/10.2307/3325435

- Hananel, R. (2018). Deserving and privileged: The social construction of the right to housing in Israel. *Israel Affairs*, 24(1), 128–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/13537121.2017.1398462
- Hansen, Z. (2022, June 29). Judge rules Stonecrest recycling plant improperly obtained permit. *The Atlanta Journal Constitution*.

  <a href="https://www.ajc.com/neighborhoods/dekalb/judge-rules-stonecrest-recycling-plant-improperly-obtained-permit/WBNQ5PTPIJB5LI6D4UFKV7NIVU/">https://www.ajc.com/neighborhoods/dekalb/judge-rules-stonecrest-recycling-plant-improperly-obtained-permit/WBNQ5PTPIJB5LI6D4UFKV7NIVU/</a>
- Harrison, E., Milton, A. D., & Richardson, M. L. (2020). Knowledge and perceptions of environmental issues by African Americans/blacks in Washington, DC, USA:
  Giving Voice to the Voiceless. *Sustainability*, 12(22) Article 9495.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su12229495">https://doi.org/10.3390/su12229495</a>
- He, A. J., & Ma, L. (2021). Citizen participation perceived public service performance, and trust in government: Evidence from health policy reforms in Hong Kong.
  Public Performance & Management Review, 44(3), 471–493.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2020.1780138">https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2020.1780138</a>
- Head, B. W. (2019). Forty years of wicked problems literature: Forging closer links to policy studies. *Policy and Society*, *38*(2), 180–197. https://doi.org/10.1080/14494035.2018.1488797
- Heguehag, N. (2019). Minorities confronting environmental racism through the furtherance of environmental justice movement in the United States: How does it work for African Americans. People's Democratic Republic of Algeria Ministry

- of Higher Education and Scientific Research. <a href="https://dspace.univ-guelma.dz/jspui/bitstream/123456789/5026/1/M%20821.255.pdf">https://dspace.univ-guelma.dz/jspui/bitstream/123456789/5026/1/M%20821.255.pdf</a>
- Henderson, S., & Wells, R. (2021). Environmental racism and the contamination of Black lives: A literature review. *Journal of African American Studies*, 25(1), 134–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-020-09511-5
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Weber, M. B. (2019). What influences saturation?

  Estimating sample sizes in focus group research. *Qualitative Health Research*,

  29(10), 1483–1496. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318821692
- Hermansson, K. (2019). Symbols and emotions in Swedish crime policy discourse

  [Doctoral dissertation, Stockholm University]. Digitala Vetenskapliga Arkivet

  <a href="https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1362256&dswid=1502">https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1362256&dswid=1502</a>
- Hewitt, T., Killinger, K. A., Hiller, S., Boura, J. A., & Lutz, M. (2018). Exploring racial differences surrounding prostate cancer screening: Beliefs and attitudes in community dwelling men attending an urban men's health event. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 12(6), 1929–1936.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318784838">https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318784838</a>
- Hines, R. I. (2001). African Americans' struggle for environmental justice and the case of the Shintech plant: Lessons learned from a war waged. *Journal of Black Studies*, 31(6), 777–789. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F002193470103100605">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F002193470103100605</a>
- Hoang, B. L. (2021). Racial disparities in public meeting participation? Examining past evidence and nationally representative data. *Urban Affairs Review*, *57*(1), 189–

## 213. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078087419844024

- Hogan, R. E. (2021). Legislative voting and environmental policymaking in the American states. *Environmental Politics*, *30*(4), 559–578. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2020.1788897
- Hong, S. (2015). Citizen participation in budgeting: A trade-off between knowledge and inclusiveness? *Public Administration Review*, 75(4), 572–582.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12377">https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12377</a>
- Hopkins, L. D., & Knaap, G. J. (2018). Autonomous planning: Using plans as signals. *Planning Theory*, 17(2), 274–295. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473095216669868
- Hoti, F., Perko, T., Thijssen, P., & Renn, O. (2021). Who is willing to participate?

  Examining public participation intention concerning decommissioning of nuclear power plants in Belgium. *Energy Policy*, *157*. 1–12, Article 112488.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112488">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112488</a>
- Hynes, B. O., & Hayes, N. (2011). Who benefits from early childcare subsidy design in Ireland? *Journal of Poverty & Social Justice*, 19(3), 277–288. https://doi.org/10.1332/175982711X597017
- Ianniello, M., Iacuzzi, S., Fedele, P., & Brusati, L. (2019). Obstacles and solutions on the ladder of citizen participation: a systematic review. *Public Management Review*, 21(1), 21–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2018.1438499
- Ingram, H., Schneider, A. L., & DeLeon, P. (2019). Social construction and policy design. In P. A. Sabatier (Ed.), *Theories of the policy process* (2nd. ed., pp. 93–126). Routledge.

- Jantz, E. (2018). Environmental racism with a faint green glow. *Natural Resources Journal*, 58(2), 247–277.
- Jo, S., & Nabatchi, T. (2021). Different processes, different outcomes? Assessing the individual-level impacts of public participation. *Public Administration Review*, 81(1), 137–151. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13272">https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13272</a>
- Johnson, B. L. (2020). Impact of hazardous waste on human health: Hazard, health effects, equity, and communications issues. CRC Press.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003075721">https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003075721</a>
- Johnson, T. A. (2019). Hazardous waste site proximity and Type 2 diabetes: From youths to adults (Publication No. 13422912) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Johnson Gaither, C. J., Afrin, S., Garcia-Menendez, F., Odman, M. T., Huang, R., Goodrick, S., & Ricardo da Silva, A. (2019). African American exposure to prescribed fire smoke in Georgia, USA. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(17), Article 3079.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16173079">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16173079</a>
- Jollymore, A., McFarlane, K., & Harris, L. M. (2018). Whose input counts? Evaluating the process and outcomes of public consultation through the BC Water Act Modernization. *Critical Policy Studies*, *12*(4), 381–405.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2017.1282377">https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2017.1282377</a>
- Joseph, R. (2018). The welfare/self-sufficiency gap among single mothers through theoretical lenses. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 28(6),

#### 731–745. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2018.1458678

- Judy, L. (2018). Liberty and environmental justice for all? An empirical approach to environmental racism. *Wake Forest Law Review*, *53*(4), 739–766.
- Kedzior, S. B. (2017). "Preemptive Participation" and environmental awareness across Indian water quality policy. *Journal of Environment & Development*, 26(3), 272–296. https://doi.org/10.1177/1070496517697768
- King, P. (2020, July 24). *Environmental justice concerns stall La. plastics complex*. E&E News. https://www.eenews.net/greenwire/stories/1063621685
- Klaassen, R. G. (2018). Interdisciplinary education: a case study. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 43(6), 842–859. https://doi.org/10.1080/03043797.2018.1442417
- Kramar, D. E., Anderson, A., Hilfer, H., Branden, K., & Gutrich, J. J. (2018). A Spatially informed analysis of environmental justice: Analyzing the effects of gerrymandering and the proximity of minority populations to U.S. superfund sites. *Environmental Justice*, 11(1), 29–39. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2017.0031">https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2017.0031</a>
- Kroll, A., Neshkova, M. I., & Pandey, S. K. (2019). Spillover effects from customer to citizen orientation: How performance management reforms can foster public participation. *Administration & Society*, 51(8), 1227–1253.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399716687341">https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399716687341</a>
- Kruth, J. G. (2015). Five qualitative research approaches and their applications in parapsychology. *Journal of Parapsychology*, 79(2), 219–233.
- Lane, A., & Kent, M. L. (2018). Dialogic engagement In C. A. Johnston & M. Taylor

- (Eds.), *The handbook of communication engagement* (pp. 61-72). Wiley Blackwell.
- Lappas, G., Triantafillidou, A., Deligiaouri, A., & Kleftodimos, A. (2018). Facebook content strategies and citizens' online engagement: The Case of Greek local governments. *Review of Socionetwork Strategies*, 12(1), 1–20.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12626-018-0017-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12626-018-0017-6</a>
- Ledford, C. (2018). Symbolic racism, institutional bias, and welfare drug testing legislation: Racial biases matter. *Policy Studies Journal*, *46*(3), 510–530. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12192
- Lee, H., Tsohou, A., & Choi, Y. (2017). Embedding persuasive features into policy issues: Implications to designing public participation processes. *Government Information Quarterly*, 34(4), 591–600. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2017.11.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2017.11.006</a>
- Leonard, K. M. (2018). Low-income households' perceived obstacles and reactions in obtaining affordable housing (Publication No. 10975682) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Levin, L. G. (2018). Addictions as a social construction: knowledge's, public positioning, and state implementation of treatments. *MOJ; Addiction Medicine & Therapy*, 5(3), 106–120. <a href="https://rid.unrn.edu.ar/bitstream/20.500.12049/4094/1/MOJAMT-05-00103.pdf">https://rid.unrn.edu.ar/bitstream/20.500.12049/4094/1/MOJAMT-05-00103.pdf</a>
- Li, Q., Liu, G., Leamon, G., Liu, L.-C., Cai, B., & Chen, Z.-A. (2017). A national survey

- of public awareness of the environmental impact and management of CCUS technology in China. *Energy Procedia*, 114, 7237–7244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2017.03.1854
- Liang, H., Ren, J., Lin, R., & Liu, Y. (2019). Alternative-fuel based vehicles for sustainable transportation: A fuzzy group decision supporting framework for sustainability prioritization. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, *140*, 33–43. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.12.016">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.12.016</a>
- Lim, T. C. (2021). Patterns in environmental priorities revealed through government open data portals. *Telematics and Informatics*, 64., Article 101678.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2021.101678">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2021.101678</a>
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Field methods*, *30*(3), 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1525822X17749386
- Luque, J. S., Roy, S., Tarasenko, Y. N., Ross, L., Johnson, J., & Gwede, C. K. (2015).
  Feasibility\_study of engaging barbershops for prostate cancer education in rural
  African-American communities. *Journal of Cancer Education: The Official Journal of The American Association for Cancer Education*, 30(4), 623–628.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-014-0739-2
- MacPhail, V. J., Gibson, S. D., & Colla, S. R. (2020). Community science participants gain environmental awareness and contribute high quality data but improvements are needed: Insights from Bumble Bee Watch. *PeerJ*, 8, Article e9141.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.914">https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.914</a>

- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1753–1760. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Mandič, S. (2018). Motives for home ownership: Before and after the transition.

  Housing, Theory & Society, 35(3), 281–299.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14036096.2017.1329164">https://doi.org/10.1080/14036096.2017.1329164</a>
- Martinez, M., Dye, L., & Gonzalez, L. (2017). A social constructivist approach to preparing school counselors to work effectively in urban schools. *Urban Review*, 49(4), 511–528. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-017-0406-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-017-0406-0</a>
- Mascarenhas, M., Grattet, R., & Mege, K. (2021). Toxic waste and race in twenty-first century America: Neighborhood poverty and racial composition in the siting of hazardous waste facilities. *Environment & Society*, 12(1), 108–126.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3167/ares.2021.120107">https://doi.org/10.3167/ares.2021.120107</a>
- May, A., & Ross, T. (2018). The design of civic technology: factors that influence public participation and impact. *Ergonomics*, *61*(2), 214–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2017.1349939
- McKenna, S. A. (2011). Reproducing hegemony: The culture of enhancement and discourses on amphetamines in popular fiction. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry*, 35(1), 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11013-010-9202-y
- Morello-Frosch, R., Pastor, M., & Sadd, J. (2001). Environmental justice and Southern California's "riskscape": The distribution of air toxics exposures and health risks among diverse communities. *Urban Affairs Review*, *36*(4), 551–578.

# https://doi.org/ 10.1177/10780870122184993

- Morgan, D. L., & Ravitch, S. M. (2018). Trustworthiness. In B. Frey (Ed.), *The SAGE*encyclopedia of educational research, measurement, and evaluation. SAGE

  Publications. <a href="https://methods.sagepub.com/Reference/the-sage-encyclopedia-of-educational-research-measurement-and-evaluation/i21390.xml">https://methods.sagepub.com/Reference/the-sage-encyclopedia-of-educational-research-measurement-and-evaluation/i21390.xml</a>
- Müller, S., & Korsgaard, S. (2018). Resources and bridging: the role of spatial context in rural entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 30(1-2), 224–255. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2017.1402092">https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2017.1402092</a>
- Nabatchi, T., Jo, S., & Leighninger, M. (2018). Public participation in American public administration. In E. C. Stazyk & H. G. Frederickson (Eds.), *Handbook of American public administration* (pp. 409–426). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Nabatchi, T., & Mergel, I. (2010). Participation 2.0: Using internet and social media technologies to promote distributed democracy and create digital neighborhoods.

  In. J. H. Svara & J. Denhardt (Eds.), *The connected communities: Local governments as partners in citizen engagement and community building* (pp. 80–87) [White paper]. Alliance for Innovation. <a href="http://kops.uni-konstanz.de/bitstream/handle/123456789/38750/Nabatchi\_0-361598.pdf?isAllowed=y&sequence=3">http://kops.uni-konstanz.de/bitstream/handle/123456789/38750/Nabatchi\_0-361598.pdf?isAllowed=y&sequence=3</a>
- Nathan, S., Newman, C., & Lancaster, K. (2019). Qualitative interviewing. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), *Handbook of research methods in health social sciences* (pp. 391–410). Springer.
- National Environmental Policy Act of 1970, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq. (1970).

- https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?path=/prelim@title42/chapter55&edition=prelim#:~:text=The%20purposes%20of%20this%20chapter,enrich%20the%20understanding%20of%20the
- Nicholson-Crotty, J., & Nicholson-Crotty, S. (2004). Social construction and policy implementation: Inmate health as a public health issue. *Social Science Quarterly*, 85(2), 240–256. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0038-4941.2004.08502002.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0038-4941.2004.08502002.x</a>
- Ningrum, Z. B., & Herdiansyah, H. (2018). Environmental awareness and behavior college students in regard to the environment in urban areas. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 74, Article 10004. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/20187410004
- O'Connell, C., & Billingsley, K. (2020). A place at the well: The imperative for farmer inclusion in water conservation policy design. *Culture, Agriculture, Food and Environment*, 42(1), 51–62. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/cuag.12247">https://doi.org/10.1111/cuag.12247</a>
- Okkola, S., & Brunelle, C. (2018). Has the oil boom generated new problems of housing affordability in resource-driven agglomerations in Canada? A case study of St. John's, Saskatoon, Calgary, Edmonton, and Fort McMurray, 1991–2011. *Urban Geography*, 39(2), 299–327. https://doi.org/10.1080/02723638.2017.1314174
- Onie, R. D., Lavizzo-Mourey, R., Lee, T. H., Marks, J. S., & Perla, R. J. (2018).

  Integrating social needs into health care: A twenty-year case study of adaptation and diffusion. *Health Affairs*, *37*(2), 240–247.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1113">https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1113</a>
- Palmer, K., Rivers, P. S., Melton, F. L., McClelland, D. J., Hatcher, J., Marrero, D. G., Thomson, C. A., & Garcia, D. O. (2021). Health promotion interventions for

- African Americans delivered in U.S. barbershops and hair salons—a systematic review. *BMC public health*, 21(1), Article 1553. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11584-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11584-0</a>
- Pastor, M., Sadd, J., & Hipp, J. (2001). Which came first? Toxic facilities, minority move-in, and environmental justice. *Journal of Urban Affairs*, 23(1), 1–21. https://doi:10.1111/0735-2166.00072
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice (4th ed.). SAGE.
- Pearson, A. R., Schuldt, J. P., Romero-Canyas, R., Ballew, M. T., & Larson-Konar, D. (2018). Diverse segments of the US public underestimate the environmental concerns of minority and low-income Americans. *Proceedings of The National Academy of Sciences of The United States of America*, 115(49), 12429–12434. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1804698115">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1804698115</a>
- Perlaviciute, G. (2019). Public participation in decision-making on energy projects: when does it lead to better and more acceptable energy projects? In L. Squintani, J. Darpö, L. Lavrysen, & P.-T. Stoll (Eds.), *Managing facts and feelings in environmental governance* (pp. 10–21). Edward Elgar Publishing. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788976176.00008">https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788976176.00008</a>
- Persico, C., Figlio, D., & Roth, J. (2020). The developmental consequences of superfund Sites. *Journal of Labor Economics*, *38*(4), 1055–1097. https://doi.org/10.1086/706807
- Peters, B. G., Capano, G., Howlett, M., Mukherjee, I., Chou, M. H., & Ravinet, P.

- (2018). Designing for policy effectiveness defining and understanding a concept.

  Cambridge University Press.
- Pierce, J. J., Siddiki, S., Jones, M. D., Schumacher, K., Pattison, A., & Peterson, H. (2014). Social construction and policy design: A review of past applications. *Policy Studies Journal*, 42(1), 1–29. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12040">https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12040</a>
- Popiel, P. (2020). Lost in translation? Theorizing public influence on policymaking via the 2018 net neutrality repeal. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, *37*(3), 238–253. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2020.1774070">https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2020.1774070</a>
- Quick, K. S., & Bryson, J. M. (2022). Public participation. In C. Ansell & J. Torfing (Eds.), *Handbook on theories of governance* (pp. 158–168). Edward Elgar Publishing. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4337/9781800371972.00022">https://doi.org/10.4337/9781800371972.00022</a>
- Quintero, A. (2019). The importance of inclusion in the environmental movement. *Journal of International Affairs*, 73(1), 249–254.
- Rahmani, H., Wafa, W., & Yar, F. J. M. (2021). The importance of public awareness in environmental protection: A case study in Paktika, Afghanistan. *Nature Environment and Pollution Technology*, 20(4), 1621–1626. https://doi.org/10.46488/NEPT.2021.v20i04.024
- Ramirez, M. L., Jones, C. H., Jr., & Maritz, C. (2021). How sweet it is: Fellowship and continuity in a church-based fall prevention program with African American elders in southwest Philadelphia. *Humboldt Journal of Social Relations*, 1(43), 19–30.
- Rhubart, D. C., & Galli Robertson, A. M. (2020). The right to knowledge and the

- superfund program: A fundamental cause approach to disparities in resident awareness of hazardous waste sites. *Environmental Justice*, *13*(5), 181–188. https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2020.0020
- Richter, L. (2018). Constructing insignificance: Critical race perspectives on institutional failure in environmental justice communities. *Environmental Sociology*, *4*(1), 107–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/23251042.2017.1410988
- Roberts, N. C. (2008). The age of direct citizen participation. M. E. Sharpe.
- Rollason, E., Bracken, L. J., Hardy, R. J., & Large, A. R. G. (2018). Evaluating the success of public participation in integrated catchment management. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 228, 267–278.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.09.024">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.09.024</a>
- Rosenbloom, D. H., & Fisk, J. M. (2017). *The fracking debate: Intergovernmental politics of the oil and gas renaissance*. Routledge.
- Ross, H., Baldwin, C., & Carter, R. W. (2016). Subtle implications: public participation versus community engagement in environmental decision-making. *Australasian Journal of Environmental Management*, 23(2), 123–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/14486563.2016.1194588
- Rowe, G., & Frewer, L. J. (2000). Public participation methods: A framework for evaluation. *Science, Technology, & Human Values*, 25(1), 3-29. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F016224390002500101
- Rowe, G., & Watermeyer, R. P. (2018). Dilemmas of public participation in science policy. *Policy Studies*, *39*(2), 204–221.

#### https://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2018.1451502

- Roy, S., Hansen, A. R., Ross, L., & Larson, R. (2018). A qualitative study to assess barber perceptions of the feasibility of the employer as a health advisor for obesity prevention. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *12*(5), 1450–1462. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318768586">https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318768586</a>
- Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2005). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (2nd ed). SAGE Publications.
- Ruder, A. I., & Woods, N. D. (2020). Procedural fairness and the legitimacy of agency rulemaking. *Journal of Public Administration Research & Theory*, *30*(3), 400–414. https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/muz017
- Sabatier, P. A. (2007). *Theories of the policy process*. Westview Press.
- Sabatier, P. A., & Weible, C. M. (2014). *Theories of the policy process*. Westview Press.
- Saldana, J. (2013). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE Publications.
- Saldana, J. (2021). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE Publications.
- Sant'Ambrogio, M., & Staszewski, G. (2018). Public engagement with agency rulemaking—final report for the Administrative Conference of the United States.

  Administrative Conference of the United States.
  - https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3615830
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8</a>

- Schäfer, I., Pawels, M., Küver, C., Pohontsch, N. J., Scherer, M., den Bussche, H., & Kaduszkiewic, H. (2014). Strategies for improving participation in diabetes education. *A Qualitative Study. PLoS One.* 9(4), Article e95035. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0095035
- Schneider, A., & Ingram, H. (1993). Social construction of target populations:

  Implications for politics and policy. *American Political Science Review*, 87(2),

  334–347. https://doi.org/10.2307/2939044
- Schneider, A., & Ingram, H. (2007, August 29-September 2). Ways of knowing:

  Implications for public policy [Paper presentation] Annual Meeting of the

  American Political Science Association, Chicago, IL, United States.

  <a href="https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.583.7256&rep=rep1&type=pdf">https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.583.7256&rep=rep1&type=pdf</a>
- Schneider, A. L., Ingram, H., & Deleon, P. (2014). Democratic policy design: Social construction of target populations. In P. A. Sabatier & C. M. Weible (Eds.), *Theories of the policy process* (3rd ed., pp. 105–149). Westview Press.
- Schneider, A. L., & Ingram, H. M. (2019). Social constructions, anticipatory feedback strategies, and deceptive public policy. *Policy Studies Journal*, *47*(2), 206–236. https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12281
- Searle, G., & Legacy, C. (2021). Locating the public interest in mega infrastructure planning: The case of Sydney's WestConnex. *Urban Studies*, 58(4), 826–844. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0042098020927835
- Servadio, J. L., Lawal, A. S., Davis, T., Bates, J., Russell, A. G., Ramaswami, A.,

- Convertino, M., & Botchwey, N. (2019). Demographic inequities in health outcomes and air pollution exposure in the Atlanta area and its relationship to urban infrastructure. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 96(2), 219–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-018-0318-7
- Shanahan, E. A., Jones, M. D., McBeth, M. K., & Radaelli, C. M. (2018). The narrative policy framework. In C. M. Weible &, P. A. Sabatier (Eds.), *Theories of the policy process* (4th ed., pp. 173–213). Routledge.
- Shargo, I., Hall, J., Deng, A., Khanjar, N., Edwards, C., Berman, I., Galarraga, J., & Wilson, S. (2021). Proximity of urban farms to contaminated sites in Baltimore,

  Maryland. *Landscape Journal*, 40(1), 17–33. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3368/wplj.40.1.17">https://doi.org/10.3368/wplj.40.1.17</a>
- Shiigi, K. (2018). A proposal to increase public participation in CERCLA actions through notice. *Ecology Law Quarterly*, *45*(2), 461–472. https://doi.org/10.15779/Z38319S31F
- Sidney, M. S. (2001). Images of race, class, and markets: Rethinking the origin of U.S. fair housing policy. *Journal of Policy History*, *13*(2), 181–214. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1353/jph.2001.0006">https://doi.org/10.1353/jph.2001.0006</a>
- Simon, D. M. (2011). *Assumptions, limitations and delimitations*.

  <a href="https://studylib.net/doc/8312011/assumptions---limitations-and-delimitations">https://studylib.net/doc/8312011/assumptions----limitations-and-delimitations</a>
- Simundic, A. M. (2013). Bias in research. Biochemia Medica, *23*(1), 12–15. https://doi.org/10.11613/BM.2013.003
- Smith, D., & Blowers, A. (2021). Here today, there tomorrow: The politics of hazardous waste transport and disposal. In M. Clark, D. Smith, & A. Blowers (Eds.), *Waste*

- location: Spatial aspects of waste management, hazards and disposal (pp. 208–226). Routledge.
- Soffen, K. (2016, June 9). How racial gerrymandering deprives Black people of political power. *The Washington Post*.
  - $\underline{https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2016/06/09/how-a-widespread-practice-to-politically-empower-african-americans-might-actually-harm-them/$
- Sommariva, S., Vamos, C., Mantzarlis, A., Đào, L. U. L., & Martinez Tyson, D. (2018).

  Spreading the (fake) news: Exploring health messages on social media and the implications for health professionals using a case study. *American Journal of Health Education*, 49(4), 246–255.
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2018.1473178
- Soni, S., Mason, J., & Sherman, J. (2022). Beyond human-centered design: The promise of anti-racist community-centered approaches in child welfare program and policy design. *Child Welfare*, *100*(1), 81–109.
- Soraghan, M. (2020, July 23). Environmental justice concerns stall Va. Power project.

  E&E News. <a href="https://www.eenews.net/energywire/2020/07/23/stories/1063611741">https://www.eenews.net/energywire/2020/07/23/stories/1063611741</a>
- Stakes, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. SAGE Publications.
- Starke, A. M. (2020). Poverty, policy, and federal administrative discourse: Are bureaucrats speaking equitable antipoverty policy designs into existence? *Public Administration Review*, 80(6), 1087–1099. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13191
- Steinbach, M., Sieweke, J., & Süß, S. (2019). The diffusion of e-participation in public administrations: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Organizational*

- Computing and Electronic Commerce, 29(2), 61–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/10919392.2019.1552749
- Stephan, M. (2005). Democracy in our backyards: A study of community involvement in administrative decision making. *Environment & Behavior*, 37(5), 662–682. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916504274005">https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916504274005</a>
- Stockman, J. A., III. (2019). Coming to America: Regulatory oversight of United States immigration policies: A brief history. *The Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 66(3), 525–536. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2019.02.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2019.02.002</a>
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Tataw, D. B., & Ekundayo, O. T. (2017). Mixed methods in prostate cancer prevention and service utilization planning: Combining focus groups, survey research, and community engagement. *Social Work in Public Health*, *32*(4), 254–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2016.1275914
- Taylor, M., & Kent, M. (2014). Dialogic\_engagement: Clarifying foundational concepts.

  \*\*Journal of Public Relations Research, 26(5), 384–398.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2014.956106
- Taylor, S. P. (2018). Critical realism vs social constructionism & social constructivism:

  Application to a social housing research study. *International Journal of Sciences:*Basic and Applied Research, 37(2), 216–222.
- Teschner, B., & Holley, E. (2021). Participation or frustration? Local stakeholders and the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA): Donlin\_Gold project, western

- Alaska. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, 8(4). Article 100962. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2021.100962
- Thomas, F. (2022). African American fathers' experiences of alienation from their children due to Texas family code [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].

  Walden University Scholarworks.

  https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/10613/
- Toots, M. (2019). Why\_e-participation systems fail: The case of Estonia's Osale.ee.

  \*Government Information Quarterly, 36(3), 546–559.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.02.002
- Tracy, S. J. (2019). Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact. John Wiley & Sons.
- Trochmann, M. (2021). Identities, intersectionality, and otherness: The social constructions of deservedness in American housing policy. *Administrative Theory*& *Praxis*, 43(1), 97–116. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10841806.2019.1700456">https://doi.org/10.1080/10841806.2019.1700456</a>
- Tse, H., Lam, C., Gu, J., & Lin, X. (2018). Examining the interpersonal process and consequence of leader–member exchange comparison: The role of procedural justice climate. *Journal of Organization Behavior*, *39*(8), 922–940.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2268">https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2268</a>
- Ulibarri, N. (2018). Does collaboration affect the duration of environmental permitting processes? *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 61(4), 617–634. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2017.1327845
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). American factfinder: Population estimate as of July 2018

- https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/nav/jsf/pages/index.xhtml
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2021). *Quick facts: Georgia. 2021 population estimate as of March* 2021. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/GA
- Valcore, J. L., & Dodge, M. (2019). How hate crime legislation shapes gay and lesbian target groups: An analysis of social construction, law, and policy. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 30(2), 293–315.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0887403416651924">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0887403416651924</a>
- Villarosa, L. (2020, July 28). Pollution is killing Black Americans. This community fought back. *New York Times Magazine*, 28–49. <a href="https://drrobertbullard.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Untitled-attachment-01550.pdf">https://drrobertbullard.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Untitled-attachment-01550.pdf</a>
- Vygotsky, L. (1978). Mind and society: The development of higher mental processes.

  Harvard University Press
- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings: Researcher bias, western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of forensic nursing*, *14*(2), 72–79. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.00000000000000099">https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.000000000000000099</a>
- Wagmiller, R. L., Jr., Gage-Bouchard, E., & Karraker, A. (2017). Does Black socioeconomic mobility explain recent progress toward Black-White residential integration? *Demography*, *54*(4), 1251–1275. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-017-0593-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-017-0593-z</a>
- Wagner, T. P., & Morris, L. A. (2018). Improving comprehension of public policy design using social constructions of target populations theory. *Journal of Public Affairs Education*, 24(2), 195–215. https://doi.org/10.1080/15236803.2018.1429813

- Weaver, A. M., Wang, Y., Wellenius, G. A., Bidulescu, A., Sims, M., Vaidyanathan, A.,
  Hickson, D. A., Shimbo, D., Abdalla, M., Diaz, K. M., & Seals, S. R. (2021).
  Long-term air pollution and blood pressure in an African American cohort: The
  Jackson Heart Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 60(3), 397–405.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.10.023
- Webber, W. B., & Stone, R. (2017). Incidence of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and residential proximity to superfund sites in Kentucky. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 80(1), 22–29.
- Weiksner, G. M., Gastil, J., Nabatchi, T., & Leighninger, M. (2012). Advancing the theory and practice of deliberative civic engagement: A secular hymnal. In T.
  Nabatchi, J. Gastil, M. Leighninger, & G. M. Weiksner (Eds.), *Democracy in motion: Evaluating the practice and impact of deliberative civic engagement* (pp. 261–274). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199899265.003.0012">https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199899265.003.0012</a>
- White-Newsome, J. L. (2016). A policy approach to climate justice. *The Black Scholar*, 46(3), 12–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/00064246.2016.1188353
- Wikle, T. A. (2020). National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Williams, M. P. (2020). Perceived employment barriers involving program managers assisting unemployed young African American males (Publication No. 28028034)

  [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Wilson, A., Tewdwr-Jones, M., & Comber, R. (2019). Urban planning, public participation and digital technology: App development as a method of generating

citizen involvement in local planning processes. *Environment and Planning B: Urban Analytics and City Science*, 46(2), 286–302.

https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2399808317712515

Education and Research, 42(2), 218–230.

<a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X18810131">https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X18810131</a>. Xia, T., Braunack-Mayer, Y., & Crabb, S. (2017). Public attitudes toward encouraging sustainable transportation: An Australian case study *International*. Journal of Sustainable Transportation,

Woodruff, S. (2018). Coordinating plans for climate action. *Journal of Planning* 

- 11(8), 593–601. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2017.1287316
- Yabes, R., & Pijawka, D. (2008). Public participation in achieving sustainability in central city neighborhoods. In L. C. Heberle & S. M. Opp (Eds.), *Local sustainable urban development in a globalized world* (pp. 237–254). Ashgate Publishing.
- Yetano, A., & Royo, S. (2017). Keeping citizens engaged: A comparison between online and offline participants. *Administrative & Society*, 49(3), 394–422. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399715581625
- Yildirim, G., Elban, M., & Yildirim, S. (2018). Analysis of use of virtual reality technologies in history education: A case study. *Asian Journal of Education and Training*, 4(2), 62–69.
- Yin, R. K. (2003). Case study research: Design and methods (3rd ed., Vol. 5). SAGE Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications design and methods. SAGE

Publications.

Zaragoza, L. J. (2019). The Environmental Protection Agency's use of community involvement to engage communities at superfund sites. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(21), Article 4166.

<a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214166">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214166</a>

Zhao, M., Lin, Y., & Derudder, B. (2018). Demonstration of public participation and communication through social media in the network society within Shanghai. *Environmental and Planning & Urban*, 45(3), 529–547.

https://doi.org/10.1177/239980817690154

## Appendix A: Recruitment Flyer

There is a case study called *Public Participation in Georgia's Environmental*Permitting Process that explores the experiences and perceptions of African American residents living in Stonecrest with the GEPD permitting process at the exclusion of input from community members. For this study, you are invited to describe your experiences and perceptions of Georgia's environmental permitting process.

This research is part of the doctoral study for Joyce Stanley, a Ph.D. student at Walden University.

#### **About the study:**

• One 45-minute Zoom call interview

#### **Volunteers must meet these requirements:**

- African American
- Speak English
- Homeowner residing in Stonecrest within zip codes 30038 and 30058 between 2017–2020

If you would like to participate in this case study, please contact via email

joyce.stanley@waldenu.ed

#### Appendix B: Church Letter

Hello, Church Office:

My name is Joyce Stanley, and I am a student at Walden University in their Ph.D. Public Policy and Administration Program. I am conducting a study called *Public Participation in Georgia's Environmental Permitting Process* to explore and better understand how African American homeowners in Stonecrest feel about the hazardous waste site being placed in their communities without an opportunity to provide input into the Georgia Environmental Protection Division (GEPD) decision-making process before a decision is made to grant permits. This study is a partial degree fulfillment of the Ph.D. program at Walden University.

I am emailing you to seek your assistance in advertising the study in your broadcast, announcements, bulletin board, newsletter, or program. This is only a request that you post the attached flyer where you deem appropriate and does not involve your staff in providing any information to the proposed participant.

The study's interview will only take 30-40 minutes and will be conducted via telephone.

Participation is voluntary, as indicated on the flyer, and no personal identifying information will be collected. Interested individuals can contact me directly for additional information and screening for eligibility. The study results will be reported in the aggregate and in no way connect your organization or the participants to its findings.

I have attached a newsletter, social media, and bulletin board-friendly flyer. I appreciate your time. If you need additional information before you honor this request, you may contact me at

Respectfully,

Joyce Stanley

# Appendix C: Screening Guide

(1) Are you African American? ☐ Yes ☐ No☐								
(2) Did you own your home and reside in Stonecrest within the zip codes 30038 and								
30058 between 2017 and 2020?								
	□ Yes	□ No						
(3) Is your home in zip code 30038?	□ Yes	□ No						
(4) Is your home in zip code 30058?	□ Yes	□ No						
(5) Do you speak English?	□ Yes	□ No						
(6) Do you have any knowledge or experience with the Georgia Environmental								
Protection Division permitting process?								
	□ Yes	□ No						
(7) Are you willing to follow-up with an additional interview if necessary?								
	□ Yes	□ No						
You, the participant, can change their mind and not participate at any time, including								
during the interview. Do you know of others meeting these criteria that might have an								
interest in participating?								

The interview process might require follow-up questions for clarity and review.

#### Appendix D: Interview Protocol and Questions

Date:

Time:

Interviewee Code:

The interview questions are open-ended to support a maximum variation interview process. This will provide me with an opportunity to maximize differences in participants' responses at the beginning of the study, increase the chance that findings will show difference(s), and have conversations with residents in the community with firsthand knowledge.

Instructions of standard procedures from one interview to the next.

- I will transcribe the participants' responses immediately after the interview.
- I will interview one participant per day or at least four participants per week, if availability permits.

**Ice breaker:** Which do you enjoy most, being indoors or outdoors? Why

#### **Open Ended Questions**

#### A. GEPD community permitting notification process

- 1. What is your experience in the environmental permitting decision-making process in Georgia?
- 2. What is your perception of the way Georgia Environmental Protection Division conducts its community engagement in environmental decision-making process in Georgia?
- 3. How does the dissemination of or lack of timely environmental notifications or announcements for governmental permitting actions impact African Americans communities?

4. What community outreach efforts have historically prevented or facilitated interactions and two-way dialogue with community members to encourage participation in permitting issues that impact their communities?

# B. Specific perceptions and experience with the GEPD's efforts to include African Americans living in Stonecrest in the permitting process.

- 5. When and how were you made aware of the permit application by Green Metro Recycling to build a hazardous waste site in Stonecrest in 2020?
- 6. After learning about the permit application and prior to the decision being made, what input, if any, were you allowed to provide?
- 7. How does the way GEPD disseminate environmental notification or announcement for government action (permits) impact African Americans in Stonecrest?
- 8. How satisfied were you with the response, and how it was communicated to you?
- 9. How do you feel after learning the hazardous waste site is being constructed in your community?
- 10. What recommendations do you have for improving GEPD's efforts to provide the Stonecrest community members with an opportunity to participate in their permitting process before a permit is granted?
- 11. Is there anything I missed you would like to add?

Appendix E: Research Question, Interview Questions, Participants' Responses, Patterns, and Themes' Chart

Research question	Interview question	Participants response	Pattern	Theme
What are the perceptions,	How have you participated in environmental decision-	·		
experiences, and recommendations of African American	making in Georgia?			
homeowners living in Stonecrest between	2. What is your experience in the			
2017 and 2020 concerning how	environmental decision- making process in			
GEPD addresses community concerns	Georgia? 3. What is your			
in the decision-making process before	perception of the environmental decision-			
hazardous waste site permits are issued?	making process in Georgia?			
	4. What is your perception of the			
	notification process for the Georgia			
	Environmental Protection Division's environmental action in Stonecrest?			
	5. How does the dissemination of			
	environmental notifications or			
	announcements for governmental action			
	(permits) impact African Americans in Stonecrest?			
	6. What community			
	outreach efforts have historically prevented interactions and two-way			
	dialogue with community members to encourage			
	participation in permitting issues that impact their			
	communities?			
	7. What is your awareness regarding the hazardous			

Research question	Interview question	Participants response	Pattern	Theme
	waste site permitted in Stonecrest in 2020?			
	8. What is your knowledge concerning the Green Metro Recycling hazardous waste site locating in Stonecrest?			
	9. How did you feel after learning the hazardous waste site is being constructed in your community?			
	10. Is there anything I missed you would like to add?			